# CRYOPROTECTANTS: A REVIEW OF THE ACTIONS AND APPLICATIONS OF CRYOPROTECTIVE SOLUTES THAT MODULATE CELL RECOVERY FROM ULTRA-LOW TEMPERATURES

Gloria D. Elliott<sup>1,\*</sup>, Shangping Wang<sup>1</sup>, Barry J. Fuller<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mechanical Engineering and Engineering Science, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, USA;

<sup>2</sup>Division of Surgery & Interventional Sciences, UCL Medical School, London, UK

\*Corresponding author:

Gloria D. Elliott

Department of Mechanical Engineering and Engineering Science, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, USA;

Phone: +1(704)687-8365

Email: gdelliot@uncc.edu

**Keywords:** cryopreservation; CPA; vitrification; osmotic injury; toxicity; antifreeze proteins; ice nucleating agents; cell and tissue recovery

## Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. The Challenges for Living Systems at Ultra-low temperatures	6
2.1 Water, Cooling, and Ice Nucleation.	6
2.2 Osmotic Response to Ice Formation	8
2.3 Vitrification and the Avoidance of Ice	10
3. Cryoprotectants: Solutes that Modulate the Liquid Water to Ice Transition.	11
4. Cellular and Molecular Changes in the Presence of CPAs: Stability versus Toxicity	17
4.1 Protective Effect of CPAs on Membranes and Intracellular Organelles	17
4.2 Toxicity	19
4.2.1 Osmotic Injury during CPA Application and Removal	20
4.2.2 Molecular and Pharmacological Toxicities	23
4.2.3 Minimizing CPA Toxicity	26
5. Beyond the Single Cell: Application of CPAs to Large Tissues or Organs	27
5.1 Organs	27
5.2 Tissues	29
6. Nature, Evolution, and Avoiding Ice Formation Injury: Antifreeze Proteins, Synthetic Peptides,	
Small Molecule Recrystallization Inhibitors, and Ice Nucleating Agents	32
7. CPA Mixtures: Trading Synergy and Avoidance of Ice Damage Against Complexity	35
8. Summary	40
Acknowledgements	40
References	40

Tables
--------

## Abstract

Cryopreservation has become a central technology in many areas of clinical medicine, biotechnology, and species conservation within both plant and animal biology. Cryoprotective agents (CPAs) invariably play key roles in allowing cells to be processed for storage at deep cryogenic temperatures and to be recovered with high levels of appropriate functionality. As such, these CPA solutes possess a wide range of metabolic and biophysical effects that are both necessary for their modes of action, and potentially complicating for cell biological function. Early successes with cryopreservation were achieved by empirical methodology for choosing and applying CPAs. In recent decades, it has been possible to assemble objective information about CPA modes of action and to optimize their application to living systems, but there still remain significant gaps in our understanding. This review sets out the current status on the biological and chemical knowledge surrounding CPAs, and the conflicting effects of protection versus toxicity resulting from the use of these solutes, which are often required in molar concentrations, far exceeding levels found in normal metabolism. The biophysical properties of CPAs that allow them to facilitate different approaches to cryogenic storage, including vitrification, are highlighted. The topics are discussed with reference to the historical background of applying CPAs, and the relevance of cryoprotective solutes in natural freeze tolerant organisms. Improved cryopreservation success will be an essential step in many future areas such as regenerative medicine, seed banking, or stem cell technology. To achieve this, we will need to further improve our understanding of cryobiology, where better and safer CPAs will be key requirements.

## 1. Introduction

Within the community of cryobiologists, discussions surrounding the history, biochemical and biophysical modes of action of, and optimal applications for, the diverse range of solutes that constitute cryoprotective agents (CPAs) are central to the growing importance of cryobiology. Some of the early CPA discoveries carry almost legendary status, such as the serendipitous identification of glycerol as the essential solute allowing survival of spermatozoa from exposure to ultra low cryogenic temperatures by Polge and colleagues [233, 265]. However, as attributed to Albert Szent Giorgyi, '*a discovery is an accident meeting a prepared mind'*. Polge was already looking for freeze-protective substances (previously suggested to be sugars) in work on freezing fowl sperm, when the inadvertent use of a bottle containing a glycerol mixture led to instant success and ultimately the establishment of modern cryobiology [232]. For many scientists across a number of different fields (for example reproductive therapy, haemopoietic stem cell transplantation, banking of seeds and plant genetic resources, and now the rapidly expanding horizons for regenerative medicine), utilization of CPAs to support successful cryopreservation has become routine. Despite this prevalence, a clear understanding of the multifaceted actions of these solutes does not always accompany their pragmatic application.

Cryogenic banking of a variety of cell types to effectively 'halt the march of time' has become a very useful tool for many applications including managing resources, avoiding wastage, allowing testing and validation before release, matching different donor—patient pathways, as well as permitting shipping to distant end users. The selection of suitable CPAs and protocols for various applications may appear seductively straightforward, but more incisive testing of the effects of cryopreservation can often detect hidden cryopreservation failure that may take several hours to develop postthawing [18, 307]. Cryopreserved cells may also fail to perform the full range of normal functions when assessments of recoveries are made on a more comprehensive basis [107]. The historical conceptualization of cryoprotection (as we now term it) from studies on freeze tolerance in natural

systems, linked with accumulation of protective solutes, goes back more than 100 years, and has been reviewed previously [105]. This was followed by a period of focused study from the 1950's onwards to identify solutes that could be applied in the laboratory to permit cell and tissue cryopreservation [143, 179]. The current review sets out to document what has been learned since the most recent previous overview a decade ago [105], on the range of available solutes, the benefits and challenges associated with CPAs, the chemical and physical bases for their abilities to modulate how water behaves during cryopreservation, and to shine a light on recent research in our understanding of cryoprotection.

### 2. The Challenges for Living Systems at Ultra-low temperatures

#### 2.1 Water, Cooling, and Ice Nucleation.

In terms of the defined focus on cryopreservation, the discussion of solutes that permit cells to survive cryogenic exposure naturally lean towards the empirical. In fact, a classical definition of 'cryogenic' is a temperature below –150 °C, whereas cryopreservation requires cells to survive effects of exposure to a wide range of progressively lower temperatures, both above and below – 150 °C, where different biophysical factors can play a role, as will be discussed later. In comparison, some biological systems survive exposure to the deep subzero range down to about –40 °C in the extreme. We have used the term 'ultra-low' to encompass all these temperature ranges where protective solutes are important. The definition of a *cryoprotectant* is any solute which, when added to cells in their medium, allows higher post-thaw recoveries than if it were not present [143]. However, before discussing the nature of CPAs and these applied definitions, it is worth considering the challenges that are imposed by cooling to ultra-low temperatures – i.e. the process of freezing. As has been well described, vital life processes depend on liquid water. The changing, subtle, multifaceted configurations that water molecules can assume under physiological conditions are necessary to solvate and stabilize the full gamut of essential biomolecules [98, 103, 272]. Discussions

on the position of water in life on this planet have often reached philosophical levels, as for example the quotation 'If there is magic on this planet, it is contained in water' from anthropologist and science writer Loren Eisley. It is therefore not surprising that the phase transition that occurs during ice nucleation can be expected to have dramatic consequences for living organisms far beyond simple effects from temperature reduction. Above the freezing point, accepted evidence suggests that water exists as transient but inter-related networks of 'flickering clusters' momentarily constrained by hydrogen bonding and continually reorganizing on a picosecond timescale [292]. At the point of ice solidification, water molecules assume tetrahedral orientations where the hydrogen bonding leads to an open lattice network, with six interacting water molecules existing in a structured format (involving both nucleation events and growth of crystallites [204, 205]) sometimes referred to as 'the stacked chair structure' [101]. This process provides hexagonal ice as is routinely encountered in nature and the laboratory, and termed ice 1h by ice physicists [17]. These orientations have been confirmed by crystallographic and diffraction techniques, but it should also be pointed out that several other water molecule orientations can exist in ice {up to ice XVI that is a seventeenth crystalline ice phase with the least dense  $(0.81 \text{ g/cm}^3)$  experimentally established by removing all guests using vacuum pumping on small partials of neon hydrate (of structure sll) first obtained in 2014 [94]} if physical conditions such as temperature and pressure change. Many of these forms are of a transitory nature and exist under relatively extreme conditions outside those of normal focus for biologists aiming to preserve life forms by cryopreservation. That said, the concepts do overlap because, as discussed below, the activities of cryoprotective solutes can influence the way that water molecules interact with each other and with other dissolved solutes as ice nucleation progresses.

One of the paradoxical facts concerning the phase transition of liquid water to ice is that, whilst we can discuss concepts of ice crystal structures and the multiplicity of variations in those, in practice, solutions rarely freeze (within any practical time frame) at the equilibrium phase change

temperature. This is important to the current discussion because one effect of many CPAs is to modify the phase change process. The driving mechanisms for mobile water molecules to become organized into ice nuclei, as temperature is lowered, are changes in thermal energy in the solution and, in biological systems, surfaces that can catalyze the event by a process called heterogenous nucleation. Many such catalysts exist in the environment such as microscopic dust particles, especially containing silicates, bacterial surfaces, chemicals in the crystalline form such as cholesterol, or indeed particular protein structures [102, 154, 310, 315]. Such heterogenous nucleation dominates ice crystal formation in biological systems over the temperature range between -5 °C to about -30 °C [310, 311]. Water molecules can undergo self-association to form structures that can nucleate ice with a process termed homogenous nucleation [311], which is surprisingly energetically unfavourable at high subzero temperatures (i.e. just below 0 °C where we normally assume environmental freezing to take place). The homogenous nucleation temperature for water occurs only at significantly lower temperatures close to -40 °C or below [102, 242, 310]. As discussed, in nearly all circumstances encountered when cooling dilute aqueous solutions, ice formation can be detected at intermediate temperatures (often between about -5 °C to -20 °C) depending on the solution, the cooling rate, the volume and container, to name only a few variables that influence the process called heterogenous ice nucleation [206]. This is equally true for ice nucleation in the environment, including the atmosphere [210]. The temperature difference between the true equilibrium melting point and that of heterogenous ice formation is termed 'undercooling' or 'supercooling' [67, 311]. This undercooling point or nucleation temperature can be measured by the release of the latent heat of ice formation and can be highly variable even between samples cooled within the same batch [206].

#### 2.2 Osmotic Response to Ice Formation.

Chemists and natural scientists have known for centuries that one of the fundamental consequences of the water-ice transition is alteration of the ability of water to solvate salts and other solutes; this was commented on by Boyle in his treatise on freezing [28], and confirmed by many observations since then [259, 271]. Solutes are excluded from ice crystal structures, leading to increases in concentration in the residual fraction of liquid water and colligative freezing point depression. For dilute salt solutions, as temperatures are progressively lowered, the fraction of ice increases and consequently the solute concentration increases, causing further freezing point depression [47]. In biological freezing, cells are invariably also excluded from the growing ice matrix. This inevitable consequence of increased solute concentration was conceptualized by Lovelock [179] as a major damaging factor during freezing of cells. He hypothesised that the increased salt concentration led at some point to irreversible membrane damage (by chemical mechanisms not fully defined) and subsequent cell lysis on thawing. He designed experiments which showed that in his studies of human red cells, sodium chloride, the major constituent in plasma, was the dominate solute. The osmotic effects that Lovelock described were subsequently accounted for in a quantitative way for cells in the presence of ice by Mazur [195] based on fundamental thermodynamics.

For the great majority of cell types studied, this osmotic dehydration during freezing has been consistently observed, by direct microscopy or more sophisticated electron microscopy [244]. At the relatively slow rates of cooling encountered during freezing in the environment, or for typical laboratory specimens (i.e. several ml of a cell suspension), this cell dehydration can reach extreme proportions. There remains sufficient time for the intracellular water to efflux across the cell membrane in the face of the increasing ice fraction, and as a consequence ice is not observed intracellularly. Studies by Meryman [199] provide more evidence for osmotic effects as major events in slow freezing cell injury. The same group proved additional support for the reduction of the osmotically driven cell injury seen during ice solidification by the colligative effects resulting from adding neutral solutes as CPA [202].

However, if cooling progresses at rates kinetically incompatible with full cell osmotic responsiveness, ice crystals can be detected within the body of the cells [288], at least in many cell systems. The sum

of these observations was combined by Mazur [193] to reflect the findings that for cells to withstand freezing processes, an optimal cooling rate can be defined, with increased cell injury both at very low cooling rates (equated to osmotic stress and other associated mechanisms during freezing) or very high cooling rates (where intracellular ice is produced). Mazur distilled these concepts into his seminal paper on the two factor hypothesis of freezing injury [194], which has largely withstood the test of time over many years of subsequent study. One important fact that has emerged has been the realization that the descriptors 'slow' or 'fast' in this context must be used with caution because there are many factors which combine to shift the optimum cooling rate for cell survival, including the biology of the particular cell in question, and the impact of CPAs, which will be discussed below.

#### 2.3 Vitrification and the Avoidance of Ice.

At this point it should be recognized that over the same period, there was a growing understanding that, under very specific conditions, water can be cooled to cryogenic temperatures in a manner that avoids the process of ice nucleation all-together [183], a process called 'vitrification'. Vitrification in aqueous systems is a complex process in physical terms, but can be described as solidification of a solution at low temperatures by achieving an extremely high viscosity without ice nucleation and crystallization [301]. This has sometimes been referred to in the public parlance as the creation of 'amorphous ice', or 'glass water', but in the strict definition sense it cannot be ice as it displays no crystalline structure. The physics of vitrification of water are complex and beyond the scope of the current review [5]. Solids created by vitrification are called glasses. Water and dilute aqueous solutions must be cooled at extremely high cooling rates to vitrify, but the high levels of intracellular solutions more favourable for intracellular vitrification during typical cooling conditions. As will be discussed later, for larger cellular constructs (e.g. embryos and tissues), vitrification of both the intracellular and extracellular solutions is the preferred approach.

#### 3. Cryoprotectants: Solutes that Modulate the Liquid Water to Ice Transition.

Given that intracellular ice formation is universally accepted as a severe cellular stress that tends to lead to irreversible injury, it is not surprising that CPAs have long been suspected of altering the manner in which liquid water transitions to ice. Indeed, freezing may be applied deliberately to deliver cell disruption in many biotechnological processes [236]. However, it is worth noting as an aside, that ice formation under normal conditions (e.g. for cells in normal growth media) does not result in immediate cell death. There is a kinetic aspect to the injury (itself generally attributed to dehydration stress), which for many mammalian cells can take several minutes to become irreversible [198]. For example, in work on suspensions of tumour cells, it was shown [130] that some 30% of cells would survive freezing to -15 °C for 10 minutes, but progressive injury manifested (e.g. a reduction to 14% survival) as the time was extended to 20 minutes.

Early in the history of cryoprotection, Nash [213] postulated that CPA action was linked to an ability to alter water properties as a result of hydrogen bonding between water and the CPA. This was a farsighted contribution which has subsequently been taken to higher levels of sophistication with detailed molecular simulations [186], and remains a cornerstone to explain CPA activity today [293]. Water that is bound to solutes is considered 'osmotically inactive' and is not readily available to participate in the formation of ice crystals.

The nature of the dehydration injury following progressive slow freezing has been debated for many years [200] and has also been linked to the extent of bound versus free water. The discussions developed alongside the seemingly paradoxical observations that partial dehydration *before* freezing could permit survival of some cell types from deep cryogenic freezing [185]. In reality, the term bound water is an oversimplification of the complex nature of various water compartments within any cell [109], which respond in different ways to osmotic stresses such as freezing, but it serves as a useful way to develop discussions about cryoprotection. Indeed, the similarity between

anhydrobiosis and freezing tolerance was noted from environmental studies, which led to the concept that there are different water compartments within cells, containing freely diffusible (and freezable) water alongside restricted or 'bound' water [215]. Mazur's Two Factor hypothesis [194] was developed over several years from observations that different cooling rates could yield significantly different survival from cryopreservation across a varied range of cell types [171]. It was discussed that survival from cryopreservation required an 'optimal cellular dehydration' (in the presence of CPAs), which could be achieved by allowing regulated extracellular ice crystal growth (discussed in Section 5) during controlled cooling. The bound water compartment is associated with structural organization of membranes and organelles, and polymeric components such as proteins. As dehydrative freezing progresses to impinge on restricted water, cell structures can become unstable leading to irreversible injury under some slow cooling conditions [36, 45]. A second factor observed at higher cooling rates was related to intracellular ice formation (IIF), with the incidence of injury due to IIF increasing with increasing cooling rate [209]. The balance between these two factors results in a maximal survival for a particular cell type across a limited cooling rate profile, producing what came to be known as Mazur's bell shaped survival curves.

The status of water in the non-frozen solution could also play a role in cell injury. In a recent study of molecular structure in dehydrating trehalose glasses, as the free water diminished during dehydration, a highly networked trehalose glass was observed to develop. The appearance of this macrostructure coincided with the onset of significant cell death, suggesting a possible direct physical/compressive injury of cells below a critical moisture content [295]. Studies from nature suggesting that organisms that can survive dehydration (anhydrobiosis) can also withstand freezing, led to the 'water replacement' theory, which focused on the potential for certain protective solutes to moderate this kind of irreversible cellular destabilization by replacing water on the surface of critical biomolecules [46].

These discussions surrounding the importance of cellular water compartments progressed alongside the longer-term understanding that avoidance of biological freezing injury was often related to the presence of additives (in reasonably high concentrations) such as sugars, glycerol, or milk proteins in the mixture [152]. Ethylene glycol was seen to protect 'vinegar eels' (Anquillula aceti) against rapid cooling in liquid air [184], whilst sugars were observed to support the recovery of frozen erythrocytes [100]. The study from Polge et al. [233] combined aspects of this collective understanding and unified concepts of successful cell cryopreservation by application of glycerol as a CPA with low inherent toxicity. These ideas were quickly transferred to other cell types. For example, working within the same group in the subsequent decade, Lovelock further refined theories on the nature of freezing injury resulting from cell hypertonic stress that developed as ice progressively solidified as pure water from the extracellular solution, leaving cells bathed in residual fluid channels of increasing salt concentration [177]. He made important observations on the protective effects of neutral solutes such as glycerol during cryopreservation, and especially that dimethyl sulfoxide (Me<sub>2</sub>SO – an agent not previously considered in freezing studies) was a very efficient solute in protecting red blood cells from freezing injury [179, 180]. He demonstrated that effective 'salt buffering' could be achieved during freezing by neutral solutes such as glycerol [178]. These protectants could be added in sufficiently high aqueous concentrations to depress the freezing point of the solution, thus avoiding cell exposure to injurious salt concentrations, and also penetrate the cell membrane to protect intracellular compartments, while remaining below threshold concentrations for toxicity [179].

In the mid-1960's Doebbler [65, 66] and Rowe [252] reviewed the contemporaneous literature to identify many of the CPAs that remain important in cryobiology even today. Doebbler further considered relationships between molecular structure and CPA activity. The ability of CPAs to hydrogen bond with water was proposed as a strong correlate with protective ability, whilst multiple hydrogen bonding sites per molecule magnified CPA efficiency, with the caveat that many of those

early studies were carried out using red blood cells as the model system. Comparisons of good aqueous hydrogen bonding molecules (e.g. Me<sub>2</sub>SO) with structurally similar compounds that do not hydrogen bond with water (dimethyl sulfone) provided complementary evidence of the theory. Doebbler acknowledged the importance of biological differences across different cell types when comparing different CPAs. Doebbler also recognized that inherent physical properties of aqueous solutions of different CPAs, such as increasing viscosity with lowering temperature, impact the kinetics of ice nucleation and ice crystal growth. These properties could all play roles in the success of mitigating freezing injury, such that no one set of molecular properties would adequately predict CPA efficiency. During the same period, it was also observed that certain polymeric compounds, including dextran or polyvinylpyrrolidone could afford CPA activity during rapid cooling, and weakly so at slow cooling rates [66, 286]. It came to be understood that this protection could be attributed to the tendency of some polymers to enhance the formation of a glassy matrix during cryopreservation [273].

Cell membranes were identified by Rowe [252] as one of the key targets for freezing injury. He suggested that an 'association' between CPAs and cell membranes was important. Although this concept was developed further and expressed differently later by Clegg, the Crowes, and colleagues [36, 46] in their water replacement theory, this was a prescient observation on this additional property of CPA activity. Recent molecular modelling papers are enabling the study of CPA-membrane interactions in exquisite detail. For example, Hughes and colleagues have recently demonstrated membrane thinning in the presence of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, pore formation at critical concentrations, and beyond these concentrations, loss of membrane stability [127]. As discussed later, these interactions can play a role in the relative toxicity of CPAs for any given cell type.

The study of the pharmacology of CPAs within cryobiology was championed by Karow [141, 143, 147]. He clearly defined the two major classes of CPAs (small molecular weight, *penetrating agents*, and high molecular weight *non-penetrating agents*). He listed some 56 chemicals (comprising both

CPA classes) which demonstrated efficacy defined as post-thaw survival of 40% or greater [147] in different cell types, although this depends to a large degree on the viability assays employed in the different studies. The majority of CPAs employed today appeared on that list, including dimethyl sulfoxide, propylene and ethylene glycols, methanol, some amino acids, amides, a number of oligosaccharides and some polymers such as albumin and PVP. Karow also highlighted the potential for CPA toxicity, especially for penetrating CPAs that can influence a variety of normal biochemical processes, but indicated that these toxic effects could be mitigated by developing CPA protocols where the final concentration, temperature, and time of exposure were optimized before cryopreservation. He introduced the concept of 'CPA pseudo-toxicity', whereby activities such as muscle excitation were shown to be significantly inhibited in the presence of agents such as dimethyl sulfoxide, but the inhibition was entirely reversible when the penetrating agents were washed out of the cells [141]. It has also become clear that there are several classes of effective, but chemically unrelated, CPAs that can produce desired effects (protection against freezing injury) by multiple mechanisms, not including unique drug / receptor or target interactions associated with specific drug classes.

Given the multiplicity of actions of CPAs (many of which have not yet been fully identified) and the need to mitigate toxicity, it was hypothesised early on that combinations of CPAs might be more effective. For example, the cryopreservation of corneas was enhanced by using combinations of dimethyl sulfoxide and sucrose compared to that achieved using dimethyl sulfoxide alone [32]. Importantly, in many of these early studies [170, 197], CPA combinations were developed by mixing both permeating and non-permeating CPAs, a philosophy that has been successfully exploited in many subsequent CPA protocols (see later Sections below). When studying CPA mixtures, within certain CPA classes (such as alcohols) it was noted that some alcohols (e.g. ethanol) could act as *cryosensitizers*, reducing post-thaw survival rather than acting as effective CPAs [157]. Kruuv's group attempted to produce an objective statistic (which they called tau -  $\tau$ ) to numerically define CPA

interactions [38], whereby synergism of individual CPA on outcome could be defined as  $\tau > 0$ , whilst antagonism of CPA actions yielded  $\tau < 0$ . However, given the continuing uncertainties about the multiple modes of CPA actions, it has so far been difficult to develop this concept further.

By the 1990s, activity in cryopreservation had expanded some 10-fold (as judged by cited publications) over that reported in the 1960s, which led to a pragmatic consolidation of the CPAs applied in the majority of the reported studies. Karow's 'list of 56' was reduced down to some 20 agents by Ashwood-Smith [11]. He produced a table listing CPAs on the basis of their expected efficacy, based on publications and his experiences. Of his 20 agents, only half were identified as potentially generally effective. We have updated Ashwood-Smith's list in Table 1, based on ongoing evidence since his publication. However, the majority of CPAs listed as effective by Ashwood-Smith [11] remain those of choice in contemporary scientific reports. In a similar vein to Karow, Hubalek [126] reviewed the CPAs used for cryopreservation of micro-organisms, and identified some 55 agents that had been studied to varying degrees. However, when a pair-wise analysis was applied to the CPAs based on survival of over 40% after freezing, the number again reduced down to 8 CPAs, and these same CPAs were represented by Ashwood-Smith [11]. It is fair to say that no new CPA classes have been discovered to replace the moderately or highly effective agents reported by Ashwood-Smith, Hubalek, and now shown in Table 1. What has changed over recent years has been a growing understanding of the biophysical factors that must be controlled to achieve survival from deep cryogenic temperatures, such as control of ice nucleation and/or crystal growth, and the potential for synergy between CPA mixtures, which are discussed in the following sections.

4. Cellular and Molecular Changes in the Presence of CPAs: Stability versus Toxicity

#### 4.1 Protective Effect of CPAs on Membranes and Intracellular Organelles

Much of the discussion in this review has necessarily focused so far on the dominant effects of CPAs on ice formation, and cellular dehydration during freezing, both of which improve post-thaw survival. However, there have been a number of studies that have investigated interactions of CPAs directly with different cellular molecular structures, i.e. the specific effects of CPAs that contribute to survival.

Cell membrane stability in the presence of sugars was an early focus for Crowe's group [55], and they were one of the first to apply Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy to these kinds of questions [54]. In general, they identified hydrophobic interactions between sugars, amino acids, and membrane bilayers as important factors in cryoprotection [53, 255]. They also used membrane fusion studies in model systems as a target for freeze-induced dehydration injury, and provided information to support the concept that permeating CPAs such as glycerol and Me<sub>2</sub>SO interact with polar head groups of phospholipids within the lipid bilayer [53, 54] to confer a degree of stability at concentrations similar to those used in cryopreservation. FTIR was subsequently applied as a way of defining freezing injury to the cell membrane and cell protein components by Bischof, Wolkers and colleagues [23]. Building from this, Wolkers' group applied FTIR to assess molecular alterations during cryopreservation of endothelial cells [267] in the presence of Me<sub>2</sub>SO. They found that Me<sub>2</sub>SO decreased the membrane conformational disorder encountered during freezing to -40 °C. There was a less clear effect of the CPA on cellular proteins during freezing, but Me<sub>2</sub>SO did delay the onset of protein denaturation detected during warming. Wolkers, Oldenhof and colleagues recently combined FTIR with cryomicroscopy studies to link the ability of CPAs such as glycerol to facilitate continued membrane osmotic water flux out from the cells during transit to lower temperatures

through the high subzero range during progressive freezing of sperm. These observations were also linked to the interaction of the CPA with membrane phospholipids to mitigate the membrane lipid phase transitions occurring during transit through the subzero range [217, 218]. In their recent work, they used FTIR to study membrane phase transitions of fibroblasts during cooling at superzero temperatures as well as during freezing. It was found that membrane-impermeable trehalose could be taken up by mammalian cells during freezing-induced osmotic forces and fluid-to-gel membrane phase transitions. However, the range of cooling rates that can be used to cryopreserve fibroblasts with trehalose was observed to be much narrower compared to that when Me<sub>2</sub>SO is used [313].

Because of the acknowledged importance of intracellular organelle stability for cryopreservation of mammalian oocytes (especially the tubulin-based network of the meiotic spindle which controls chromosomal distribution, and the actin-based network of the microfilaments which control normal fertilization processes), several investigators have focused on the potential for CPAs to stabilize (or indeed disrupt) these networks. The studies have been undertaken alongside the knowledge that cooling of oocytes per se can result in destabilization (depolymerization) of the meiotic spindle [231]. Addition of Me<sub>2</sub>SO to mouse oocytes for a limited time was seen to correlate with appearance of cold-stable microtubule asters, whilst prolongation of exposure resulted in spindle disassembly [136]. Both propanediol and Me<sub>2</sub>SO were found to stabilize the spindles of mouse oocytes in concentrations of 1.5M when the cells were cooled to room temperature [281], compared to control oocytes similarly cooled. Washing out of Me<sub>2</sub>SO and return to physiological temperatures resulted in a return towards normal spindle morphology, although the same was not seen when using propanediol. Effects of propanediol on mouse oocytes were studied without cooling [137]; a differential was noted where meiotic spindles were stabilized when exposed to CPA concentrations of 1.5M and above, whilst application of < 1M CPA was associated with microtubule disruption. It was suggested that water-modifying CPA may be acting by reducing the critical concentration for microtubule polymerization, favoring stability. Gook and colleagues studied mouse and human

oocytes cooled to room temperature in 1.5M propanediol [110], and recorded a protective effect in human oocytes that was not seen in mouse oocytes. Further studies on CPAs at concentrations of 1.5M on human oocytes suggested that propanediol, ethylene glycol, and Me<sub>2</sub>SO all stabilized human oocyte meiotic spindles during cooling to room temperature [306]. However a cautionary note was sounded by Larmen and colleagues [168]. In the context of studying exposure of mouse and human oocytes to much higher CPA concentrations, such as those used in vitrification techniques, exposure at room temperature was associated with spindle disruption, but this was not seen if the exposures were performed at 38 °C. Thus, there are complex interactions between CPA concentrations, temperature, time of exposure (i.e. the balance between stabilising effects of CPA versus increasing toxicity as exposure time is increased), and meiotic spindle stability, which are not currently easy to predict.

The effects of CPAs on the oocyte actin cytoskeleton have not been studied as much, but early work suggested that exposure to Me<sub>2</sub>SO at room temperature caused little change in actin microfilaments, whereas exposure at 37 °C resulted in depolymerization [284]. In fact pharmacological *disassembly* was found to improve mouse oocyte survival after cryopreservation using Me<sub>2</sub>SO [124]. Moving to higher CPA concentrations (as in vitrification), it was shown that exposure to ethylene glycol up to 6M for short times (3-5 min at room temperature) did not affect microfilament stability, whereas longer (7-10 min exposures) resulted in actin filament disruption [125]; however the suitability of short exposure times appears to be an avoidance of toxicity rather than any direct effect on microfilament stability.

#### 4.2 Toxicity

It will be clear from the above that CPAs are multi-modal agents, which may be discussed loosely as 'non-specific' drugs. In fact CPAs were described as 'a new class of drugs' early in the history of cryobiology [143]. For example, CPA toxicities, similar to classical drug toxicities, can be described as

'manifestations of adverse effects'. However, CPAs differ quite significantly from most traditional drugs, which are often delivered in micromolar concentrations with a specific receptor target. In contrast, CPAs are applied in the molar concentration range, with multiple actions combining specific and non-specific targets. Within the pragmatic division of CPAs into *permeating* and *non-permeating* agents, the potential for adverse events or reactions is heavily skewed towards *permeating*, since these are obviously able to interact directly with a multitude of cellular activities such as enzymatic processes, transporter mechanisms, ion exchanges and the like. Very few toxicity events have been linked specifically with high molecular weight *non-permeating* agents.

#### 4.2.1 Osmotic Injury during CPA Application and Removal

The differences in effective concentration ranges between normal drugs and CPAs however introduces an additional pathway for damage, resulting from osmotic effects. With most permeating CPAs being applied within the ranges of 5–10% w/v (equating often to about 1 mol  $l^{-1}$ ) during slow cooling protocols (and at higher concentrations if vitrification is the chosen method), significant concentrations of the CPA will accumulate within intracellular compartments. Diluting cells post-thaw directly into isotonic tissue culture solutions (or injecting directly into a patient with normal isotonic body fluids) inevitably results in a significant uptake of water by the cells that in the extreme can destroy homeostatic mechanisms, including membrane barrier characteristics. This was observed early in applied cryopreservation, leading to the concept of gradual controlled dilution of CPAs in studies on red blood cells [201, 264] and embryos [296].

It was also understood from historical observations [113] that the thawing process itself might lead to injurious osmotic transients, whereby ice melting and the liberation of osmotically available water could induce localized dilution stress causing rupture and haemolysis during the warming of iceembedded red blood cells as temperatures passed through the zone between -6 °C to -2 °C. Following on from these osmotic-dilution injury concepts, over the next two decades, osmotic buffers were successfully introduced into the initial CPA exposure solution [2, 64], returning focus, and supplying explanation, to the concept of efficacious cryoprotectant mixtures (see later discussions). Agents such as sugars, or in some cases polymers, can assist in mitigating influx of water into CPA-loaded cells upon dilution, often at a similar but slightly lower concentration than the penetrating CPA (e.g. applying 0.5 mol l<sup>-1</sup> sugar in the diluent) - based largely on empirical observations of the dilution steps. For example, glucose was used for CPA dilution after hepatocyte cryopreservation [107], whilst sucrose became popular for diluting CPA from embryos [216, 234, 238] and was also used in other cryo-protocols (e.g. for Plasmodium sp. by Mutetwa and James [211]). One example where optimization of sucrose as an osmotic buffer during CPA exposure has made a significant impact over the past decade has been in slow cooling of human oocytes. As large cells, oocytes may be uniquely sensitive to transmembrane water fluxes during CPA dilution [81] and addition of sucrose in the ranges of 0.2 or 0.3 mol l<sup>-1</sup> improved post-thaw recoveries, leading to many reported live births following cryopreservation [22, 50, 81, 219]. It seemed to be understood that the CPA dilution step post-thaw was in fact preceded to some extent by the thawing process itself whereby ice (melting as pure water) could induce localized dilution stress within the cells trapped in the melting ice matrix.

Control of the osmotic consequences of CPA exposure using osmotic buffers has remained a consistent theme over the intervening period, not only for cellular systems [40, 164, 248, 308] but also when attempting CPA dilution during perfusion of vascularised organs [228]. As discussed by Pegg [222], cells can only tolerate moderate excursions in cell volume without significant damage, and this risk seems to be increased following sensitization by other steps (such as lowering temperatures and increasing exposure to high solute concentrations during ice formation) in cryopreservation, and therefore avoidance of CPA-derived osmotic injury has remained an important focus for study.

In reality, it can be difficult to decouple CPA-derived osmotic injury from direct pharmacological toxicity [84], so studies to optimize CPA addition and removal need to be undertaken with this

caveat in mind. Another factor to consider is that movement of neutral CPA solutes (and water) across cell membranes is temperature dependent in reproductive cells [108, 128, 220], as well as in other cell types [97, 173], so the kinetics of osmotically-driven cell volume readjustments can vary considerably. There is less information about these osmotic fluxes during rewarming, but Liu reported on these measurements for Me<sub>2</sub>SO-exposed islet cells both during cooling and warming [173].

The ability to mathematically model osmotic consequences of CPA exposure or dilution, and then predict optimal CPA protocols to avoid osmotic injury, has been a focus for many years [78, 149, 172]. Historically osmotic cell responses (e.g. alterations in cell volumes during CPA exposure) were found to be relatively straightforward to measure in real time, and could thus form the basis for model development [220]. Different models have been suggested, which in some cases have been proposed to deal with the complexities of multi-solute systems [77, 79].

The application of modelling has advanced further in recent years with the efforts of the groups of Benson and Higgins. Redefining principles of cell volume histories against the kinetics and exposure concentrations of CPA, a mathematically optimized CPA equilibration procedure was developed for human oocytes [20]. The same group developed a CPA 'toxicity cost' function combining factors for both osmotic and chemical toxicities to endothelial cells [56]. Again, underpinning these approaches, the concepts of osmotic tolerance limits played a central role in developing the relevant assumptions. The temperature of CPA equilibration was equally important in proposing the formulation. Applying these combined parameters in their model, their numerically minimized cost function enabled high viable cell recoveries after exposure to and dilution from high concentrations of glycerol. The concentrations of glycerol achieved were capable of sustaining a vitrification approach [57].

#### 4.2.2 Molecular and Pharmacological Toxicities

When considering the evidence pertaining to CPA toxicities in pharmacological terms, it is important to distinguish the types of cell exposures used to investigate the phenomena. Given the ability of many permeating CPAs to reach a range of different intracellular compartments, it is perhaps not surprising that effects of agents such as Me<sub>2</sub>SO can be detected during long-term exposures. For example, early on Karow identified a number of toxic mechanisms in cardiac muscle [144, 145], and Conover [48] established the effects of neutral solutes (such as glycerol and ethylene glycol) on mitochondrial respiration at concentrations often used when they are applied as CPAs. More recently Yuan and colleagues [309] reported injurious changes to mitochondrial membrane potential following 24h exposure in astrocytes. However, these exposure conditions are far removed from the short exposures, often at reduced temperatures, followed by extensive post-thaw dilution, which form the basis of most cryopreservation protocols.

Expanding on Karow's studies, Fahy produced a number of important observations on CPA toxicities as a component of cryopreservation-related damage in its own right [84, 87]. He argued that Me<sub>2</sub>SO had an impact on oxygen consumption and tissue sodium / potassium ratios [88], which he linked to glycolytic energy production, discussing the original concepts of Baxter and Lathe [19] who had shown specific actions on fructose 1,6 bisphosphatase, including destabilization of the enzyme. There was less clear evidence of non-specific protein denaturation [88]. Fahy also proposed that effects of 'toxicity neutralizers' could be explained by the ability of agents such as formamide to interact directly with Me<sub>2</sub>SO, reducing relevant availability for toxic interactions with the enzyme. These studies linked back to earlier proposals from Baxter and Lathe [19]. CPA toxicity was also explained by disruptive protein interactions by Arakawa et al. [7]. They discussed the observations that CPA solvents such as Me<sub>2</sub>SO and ethylene glycol exhibit hydrophobic interactions with proteins to destabilize them, at supra zero temperatures, in contrast to the stabilizing effect they produce on proteins by preferential exclusion at lower temperatures. Such concepts speak to the complexity of defining CPA toxicity, and whether it is transitory, reversible, or long-lasting depending on the exposure conditions.

Fahy expanded ideas about CPA toxicity further by considering effects of the higher CPA concentrations now increasingly used in vitrification solutions. He proposed a formalism,  $qv^*$ , to quantify strength of potential hydrogen bonding between water and polar groups of CPA in solution, thence defining potential hydrogen bonding for disruptive protein interaction [92]. He further investigated links between amide toxicities, molecular self-interactions, and Me<sub>2</sub>SO toxicity neutralization [82]. More recently gene expression profiling has been applied by Fahy and colleagues [49] to CPA toxicity studies in endothelial cells using exposure to 60% ethylene glycol for 2 hours followed by recovery for 24 and 72 hours. High CPA exposure produced a small decrease in cell growth, suggestive of a modest CPA toxicity in this model. A wide range of differences in expression profiles was documented indicative of a generalized cellular shock response at 24h post CPA exposure, and trending towards partial recovery by 72 hours. The importance of these transient changes in gene expression on long-term cell function post-thawing are yet to be determined.

Elliott, McGann and colleagues undertook studies on CPA toxicity in relation to cryopreservation of articular cartilage. In intact tissues, Me<sub>2</sub>SO was investigated across a range of concentrations (between 1 and 6M) and exposure time and temperature [80]. As expected there was a relationship between temperature and toxicity, at concentrations above 1M (which itself was relatively innocuous). The studies were extended to chondrocytes, as the cellular component of cartilage, and were used to model coefficients of toxicity for a range of single CPAs, and for combinations of CPAs of 2, 3 or 4 mixed components [3]. The coefficients were modelled to derive positive or negative values for the mixtures, relating to whether toxicities were increased or decreased over and above those for single CPAs at the same concentrations. Within relatively high concentration (6M) ranges used for vitrification, a 4-component mix (Me<sub>2</sub>SO-ethylene glycol-glycerol-formamide) was least toxic. However, a cautionary note was sounded about the choice of CPA to combine into multi-

component solution. Including propylene glycol with any of the other CPAs studied resulted in greater toxicities. When studying single component Me<sub>2</sub>SO toxicities, Puschmann and colleagues [237] found that temperatures of exposure for a range of Me<sub>2</sub>SO concentrations (up to 50% w/v) as required for a liquidus tracking approach to cryoconservation, were again important for CPA exposure to encapsulated liver cells. In this model, it was possible to assess CPA exposures down to -20 °C in non-frozen samples, where again the lowest temperature best mitigated toxicity.

Occasionally organelle-specific CPA toxicities have been suggested. For example, mitochondria were identified as sensitive targets of CPA toxicity in aquatic species [119, 312]. Whether such specific CPA sensitivities are seen across a broad range of species remains as yet unknown.

Other chemical mechanisms for CPA toxicity have been proposed. In a recent comprehensive review, Best [21] discussed evidence that oxidative damage may be another important injurious effect. For example, in plant vitrification protocols, lipid peroxidation was detected which could be abrogated by inclusion of antioxidants such as glutathione in the mixture [278]. Best also discussed potential membrane perturbations resulting from effects such as differences between water-water or Me<sub>2</sub>SOwater hydrogen bonding, and CPA solution dielectric constant relative to membrane dielectric constant [13, 21].

There have also recently been studies on the potential for epigenetic changes induced by CPAs. It is known that Me<sub>2</sub>SO at low concentrations [1% or less] can stimulate alterations in the epigenetic profile of mouse embryonic stem cells [129], but this was observed after several hours of exposure under cell culture conditions. Changes in histone acetylation were detected in bovine oocytes following cryopreservation or vitrification in Me<sub>2</sub>SO / ethylene glycol mixtures [269] over 12 hours post thawing, but these were in response to the entire cryopreservation protocol, and may not be linked only to CPA exposure. Genomic effects of cryopreservation in gametes and embryos has recently been reviewed by Kopeika and colleagues [155], but again direct effects relating only to CPA

exposure have not often been reported. This area of CPA toxicity will likely be studied more in the near future as more accessible methods to study epigenetic changes become available.

#### 4.2.3 Minimizing CPA Toxicity

We have discussed above the studies from Fahy & colleagues [82, 84, 88] and McGann & colleagues [3, 80] where chemical agents (which would not be recognized as main line CPAs – such as acetamide and formamide) have been combined with traditional CPAs to yield a reduction in toxicity. Best [21] recently reviewed these toxicity minimizing agents. Sugars, both monosaccharides, such as galactose, or disaccharides, such as sucrose or trehalose, figured prominently in these categories. For example, Petrenko and colleagues showed that it was possible to partially substitute sucrose for Me<sub>2</sub>SO in the cryopreservation of a range of cells [229, 230]. Polymers such as polyethylene glycol have also been used. Exact modes of action are often unclear, but positive results following their application in cryopreservation mixtures have often been reported, perhaps mainly by reducing toxic concentrations of agents such as Me<sub>2</sub>SO. The extracellular CPA of themselves are unlikely to have a direct impact on the intracellular targets of toxicity of the penetrating CPA, but by maintaining a suitable total CPA solute concentration (with less permeating CPA), successful modulation of ice formation, and cell protection during cryopreservation can be achieved.

There are also several agents that can be used to reverse the effects of CPA exposure and cryopreservation in post-thaw culture. Oxidative stress has been identified as a negative consequence of cryopreservation in both plant [39, 99, 187] and animal cells, especially sperm [95, 116, 274] across a range of species. Application of antioxidants during cryopreservation and/or, in post-thaw recovery periods, has in many cases, improved outcomes [4, 6, 278]. Other drugs that can interrupt cell death pathways, such as caspase inhibitors, have been used following cryopreservation of hematopoietic stem cells [24]. Inhibitors of Rho associated kinases (ROCK inhibitors) have been applied successfully to enhance recovery of stem cell populations after cryopreservation [135, 251].

It should be pointed out, that in many of these instances the agents have been used to reverse injury from the cumulative injuries across the whole cryopreservation protocol, not just direct CPA toxicity.

It will be clear from the above discussions that we have only a nascent understanding of the multimodal effects of CPAs on cell molecular stability *per se* (even without effects of ultralow temperatures). The new technologies now coming on-stream (such as FTIR [217, 218]) should help in developing better approaches to CPA toxicity and its avoidance.

## 5. Beyond the Single Cell: Application of CPAs to Large Tissues or Organs

When considering cryopreservation of multicellular systems or vascularized organs, all of the fundamental concerns of CPA toxicity and efficacy remain important, with the additional significant challenge of ensuring that CPAs can reach, equilibrate with, and be removed from, all parts of the biological construct. Whilst single cell suspensions can invariably achieve rapid CPA equilibration within minutes of exposure by surface diffusion, this cannot be assumed for even relatively small tissues, such as cornea, without proper evaluation. Whilst it might be anatomically correct to consider discussions of CPA permeation first in tissues, in this section we have elected to discuss organ exposure first, since both in historical terms and in understanding the associated problems, organ studies provided the best early appreciation of the challenges for CPA exposure in complex systems.

#### 5.1 Organs

In general, CPA permeation into solid organs cannot be achieved by topical exposure and diffusion alone. Perfusion into the vascular bed of an organ can theoretically reduce the CPA diffusion pathway from several cm (for topical exposure) down to a few microns, as long as the perfusion process is both efficient and non-injurious, and reaches the microvascular network. From the earliest investigations, it was appreciated that vascular perfusion of intact organs was a potentially efficient method to deliver CPA into the whole biomass [117, 142, 262] before cryopreservation, using Me<sub>2</sub>SO

as a CPA. It also became evident that the composition of the carrier solution used for CPA perfusion was also of importance, because the movements of CPA into (and out of) internal cell compartments within an organ generated similar osmotic cell volume changes as those seen in single cell suspensions. However, these changes could alter perfusion resistance and organ weight gain during CPA perfusion, which could damage the vascular compartments even in the absence of freezing. These changes could be partially mitigated by choosing specific perfusate formulations, adding osmotic buffers, and perfusing at hypothermic temperatures [140]. Pegg and colleagues used perfusion at 10 °C over 30 min to deliver 1.4M Me<sub>2</sub>SO to canine kidneys before cryopreservation [225]. Karow [146] and Guttman [258] also considered the important problem of being able to confirm good CPA distribution throughout the entire organ mass following perfusion, and used radio-labelled Me<sub>2</sub>SO to assess Me<sub>2</sub>SO permeation kinetics. Karow [146] investigated Me<sub>2</sub>SO permeation by perfusion at 37, 25, and 10 °C, and, as might be predicted, although hypothermic perfusion was chosen from previous studies to mitigate problems of CPA toxicity, CPA permeation was slowest at low temperatures. Their results also identified another important variable, that organ osmotic injury could be better controlled by gradually increasing Me<sub>2</sub>SO concentration during perfusion, rather than immediately starting perfusion with 1.4M CPA.

Studies on renal perfusion with Me<sub>2</sub>SO, ethylene glycol and glycerol were undertaken by Pegg [223] at a range of perfusion temperatures. Based on his various measurements, he suggested that glycerol and ethylene glycol were worthy of further evaluation as organ CPAs. Pegg and Jacobsen went on to undertake a series of studies on rabbit kidney CPA perfusion with glycerol [132, 134, 226]. Glycerol distribution in perfused kidneys was measured by freezing point depression of biopsied renal tissues [131]. They developed a non-injurious hypothermic CPA perfusion system, with inclusion of osmotic buffers, which allowed perfusion with glycerol up to 3M with subsequent CPA removal and successful auto-transplantation [133]. In the same studies they used propylene glycol as CPA, but found that this CPA was less-well tolerated during perfusions at 2, 3 or 4M. It

should be pointed out however, that none of the CPA-equilibrated kidneys survived cooling and ice formation during slow cooling to -80 °C and rewarming. This mirrored unsuccessful attempts to apply Me<sub>2</sub>SO as CPA for kidneys by similar perfusion methods ahead of cooling to -80 °C [225].

Other studies on application of Me<sub>2</sub>SO to renal tissue cryopreservation were undertaken, again focusing on the importance of the CPA carrier solution by Clark, Fahy and Karow [43, 44]. Fahy developed a computer-controlled perfusion system to deliver Me<sub>2</sub>SO-based CPA mixture to rabbit kidneys, allowing repeatable incremental concentrations of CPA or osmotic agents to be infused or washed out [83]. Addition and removal of the Me<sub>2</sub>SO-based solution using this perfusion equipment yielded good function for CPA concentrations up to 4M [86]. Refractrometry measurements were used to determine efflux concentrations of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, and by inference, the accomplishment of full CPA equilibration. The high concentrations of Me<sub>2</sub>SO were chosen to achieve cryo-banking by vitrification. Fahy and colleagues went on to evaluate a number of CPA mixtures, mainly based on Me<sub>2</sub>SO, propylene or ethylene glycol as major components but also containing acetamide, formamide, polyvinyl pyrrolidone and polyethylene glycol to improve vitrification properties, using both tissue slice models and organ perfusion technology [92]. A mixture of CPA (called M22) with the main components of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, ethylene glycol, and formamide was introduced by perfusion to rabbit kidneys [93], and it proved possible to cool the organs and recover them from -45 °C, with evidence of good consistent graft survival, but also of renal injury. More recent information on kidney responses to such CPA mixtures has been provided [91]. More specifically, it was shown that an animal could survive indefinitely after autologous transplantation of its kidney after it had been vitrified. A critical factor for success was how well the CPA had distributed within the kidney, and therefore had prevented localized ice formation.

#### 5.2 Tissues

Standard CPAs such as glycerol or Me<sub>2</sub>SO have been used for cryopreservation of non-vascularised tissues such as skin [25, 151, 192] for many years, on the basis that surface exposure to CPA will

provide sufficient permeation as long as exposure time is prolonged (in the region of 30 min). This often begs the question about whether complete permeation with CPA has been achieved. Interestingly, transplant outcomes from tissue cryopreservation may be equally good if low recoveries of the cellular components follow cryopreservation [121], suggesting that other issues such as sterility or tissue matrix preservation have been maintained by the process. In fact, similar types of outcome have been found across a range of composite tissues cryopreserved using CPAs, glycerol or other permeating CPAs and slow cooling [14, 221, 224] where partial cell loss was seen after thawing e.g. in cornea, blood vessels, cartilage etc. Currently cryopreservation of cornea is not a routine clinical therapy because of such partial cryo-injury using slow cooling with Me<sub>2</sub>SO [8], whilst even cryopreservation of small corneal slices (lenticules) was found to result in some cell injury post thawing [203]. In situations where corneas have been cryopreserved using Me<sub>2</sub>SO, it was shown that a reduction in passenger infectious agents could be detected [27], probably relating to the washing steps for CPA exposure and removal; never-the-less this could be a helpful outcome for cornea cryopreserved for emergency therapy, which is currently the most common indication for their use.

A number of methods have been developed to measure CPA permeation into small 3-dimensional tissues to optimize CPA penetration. Chemical NMR measurements were shown to detect Me<sub>2</sub>SO permeated into liver tissues [106] and this was subsequently used to study CPA permeation into corneas [287], ovarian tissues [214, 276] and heart valve leaflets [165]. Sharma and colleagues measured Me<sub>2</sub>SO permeation into cartilage by solute extraction of biopsies and measurement of solution osmolality [260]. Wolkers and his colleagues established a diffusion model based on ATR-FTIR spectroscopy to follow temperature-dependent diffusion kinetics of glycerol, glucose, sucrose, and HES molecules, and to estimate the time needed for complete infiltration of different types of decellularized heart valve tissues with glycerol as well as sucrose solutions [290, 291].

As with organ cryopreservation, there has been an increased focus on vitrification methods for tissues, applying the essential higher CPA concentrations and mixtures. Vitrification of blood vessels using a mixture of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, propanediol, and formamide provided promising results [266]. Four CPAs (Me<sub>2</sub>SO, ethylene glycol, propanediol and glycerol) were investigated in concentrations up to 6M for cartilage vitrification [138], where Me<sub>2</sub>SO and EG were found to have the highest coefficients of permeation. The expected relationship between temperature and rate of permeation was observed. Wusteman and colleagues investigated a range of CPA mixtures in a model tissue system [304], investigating dielectric properties of the CPA mixtures that may have relevance if electromagnetic re-warming is employed for vitrified constructs. They found that propanediol performed well in this respect and in other measures of viable cell recovery. It has also become evident that there are important low temperature thermo-mechanical properties of CPAs that need to be considered when applying vitrification to large structures, and methods have been developed to measure these Rabin and his colleagues investigated a single CPA (Me<sub>2</sub>SO) at vitrifying properties [250]. concentrations and VS55 (a mixture of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, propanediol and formamide). The same group has pursued studies into the behaviour of a range of vitrifying CPA mixtures [74] to address issues such as physical cracking during vitrification and rewarming of large tissues. A similar vitrification approach has been applied to heart valve leaflets by Brockbank and colleagues [30], where the mixtures of the 3 CPAs in VS55 were increased (from a total concentration of 55%) to 83% to give VS83. Again successful recoveries have gone hand in hand with a reduced viable cell yield, as another example of where tissue matrix preservation seems more important than global viable cell function following cryo-banking. Another approach for vitrification of cartilage (liquidus tracking) using a single CPA (Me<sub>2</sub>SO) added in sequential steps has been investigated by Pegg's group [150, 227] as an approach both to avoiding ice formation by colligative freezing point depression and, from early studies in smooth muscle preservation [75], to minimizing CPA toxicity encountered with the necessarily high concentrations required. Liquidus tracking has been discussed as a method to

introduce vitrifiable concentrations of Me<sub>2</sub>SO into cartilage [1] and was based on original observations by Farrant [96] and technical demonstrations by Elford & Walter [76]. This has also been applied to large volumes of tissue engineered liver constructs, although not as successfully yet as for cryopreservation in small scales [237]. In general, whilst vitrification provides a very exciting perspective for tissue preservation in the coming years, as yet no large-scale clinical trials have been undertaken.

6. Nature, Evolution, and Avoiding Ice Formation Injury: Antifreeze Proteins, Synthetic Peptides, Small Molecule Recrystallization Inhibitors, and Ice Nucleating Agents

The importance of naturally-derived CPAs in applied cryopreservation, such as various sugars, has been discussed in Sections 2 and 3 above. Evolution has provided additional strategies to avoid icerelated injury for organisms living in cold environments, which have recently become of wider interest. These strategies include antifreeze proteins and ice nucleation agents, which have become almost a sub-speciality in cryobiology in their own right.

Antifreeze proteins and antifreeze glycopeptides, AF(G)Ps, are a category of natural cryoprotectants utilized by freeze-avoiding animals and amphibians that limit the formation of ice upon cooling below the equilibrium phase change temperature of the bulk liquid phase, a phenomenon called 'thermal hysteresis' [156] or 'freezing hysteresis' [37]. AFPs in antarctic fish have been shown to provide protection from freezing down to -2 °C [61, 62]. Insects also use AFPs to avoid ice formation at low temperatures [69, 70] and AFPs also exist in freeze-tolerant plants [111, 114]. Although the presence of AFPs in solution can lead to some colligative freezing point depression [69], the primary role they play in ice-avoidance is by adsorbing to the surface of the propagating ice plane and inhibiting further ice crystal growth. In AFPs from fish this adsorption has been attributed to hydrogen bonding between polar residues on the peptide and the oxygen atoms on the prism face

of the ice [61, 63, 153, 196, 245, 246, 263] but the specific nature of the interaction between AFPs and the ice planes remains an active area of investigation [156]. Direct observations by fluorescence microscopy of AFP – ice surface interactions in a temperature-controlled microfluidics device have indicated that there was a practically irreversible binding of AFP to ice surfaces, with a demonstrable kinetic to achieve maximum freezing hysteresis of several minutes within the observed samples [37]. There have been numerous investigations to determine the structural motifs that give rise to the icebinding phenomena responsible for the protective effects of AFPs and AGFPs, but considerable structural diversity exists amongst the various classes [58]. The commonality is that all natural AFPs bind the ice surface in some way to prevent growth of the ice crystal. Recent molecular dynamics simulations of AFP from the spruce budworm *Chorisoneura fumiferana* suggest that this protein binds indirectly to the prism ice face through an arrangement of ordered water molecules surrounding the ice [158]. Future simulation work should reveal if this behaviour characterizes all AFPs or if this is a phenomenon that is unique to this budworm AFP structure and its associated hysteresis behaviour. The scientific understanding of the range of AFP across many different phyla, and of their modes of action, has increased significantly over the past 5 years [16, 37, 68, 176].

Although AFPs have been investigated as additives for cryopreservation solutions, when pushed below the thermal hysteresis freezing point, solutions containing AFPs will form ice crystals with shapes that are oftentimes more lethal than hexagonal ice [15, 58]. Whether or not AFPs are protective or damaging depends mainly on formulation characteristics involving the concentrations and types of AFPs and cryoprotectants [289]. For example, Halwani et al. [118] have shown that AFPs from the beetle *Dendroides Canadensis* can be beneficial in preservation compositions containing Me<sub>2</sub>SO. AFPs have also been shown to interact with cell membranes in a way that is protective for chill-sensitive cell types [253, 254].

Recent advances in combinatorial chemistry and peptide science are enabling the development of libraries of synthetic 'AFP-like' molecules that can be screened for their effects on ice formation and

growth [282]. These library studies are enabling delineation between thermal hysteresis effects, generally correlated with ice-binding and ice-shaping, and ice recrystallization inhibition (IRI), which doesn't necessarily require ice-binding. The latter would be preferred for cryopreservation formulations, as it can avoid problems with lethal ice crystal structures below the hysteresis freezing point. Structure-property studies of synthetic analogies of AFPs have revealed that thermal hysteresis and IRI can indeed be uncoupled even though both commonly occur together in AFPs. Capicciotti and colleagues have identified classes of molecules, such as hydrogelators, that have high IRI activity but do not exhibit thermal hysteresis effects. They also observed that a very subtle difference in the positioning of hydroxyl groups on carbohydrate moieties can drastically affect the ability of the molecule to suppress ice recrystallization, even though the molecules are otherwise structurally identical [34, 35]. They posit that these subtle differences in structure influence how the molecule interacts with water in the vicinity of ice crystals, reducing water mobility at the interface in a way that affects diffusion of water from small to large ice crystals, thus hindering the recrystallization process [34]. High-throughput screening techniques with large chemical libraries are enabling exciting discoveries that can dramatically influence preservation science. For example, Capicciotti's group has shown that these newly identified small molecule recrystallization inhibitors can enable cryopreservation of red blood cells with reduced glycerol contents [33]. The potential value of IRI activity in vitrification approaches is now becoming more widely recognized.

On the other hand, in evolving survival in cold extremes, nature has developed the additional (and what may seem scientifically antagonistic) strategy to encourage ice formation by employing ice nucleating agents (INAs) in some circumstances. However, this becomes understandable by reflecting on Mazur's Two Factor hypothesis (see Section 1), where optimal cell dehydration can enhance survival. This has been discussed as the concept of 'regulated ice formation' [268] to avoid intracellular ice formation in cells and tissues essential for survival. For example, it has been appreciated for some time that overwintering insect species show a seasonally adaptive elevation of

their supercooling points, explained by allowing ice formation at higher subzero temperatures [310, 311]. Similar events can be seen in cold tolerant amphibians and marine intertidal molluscs [268]. In many cases, INA activities appear to be related to foreign sources such as resident bacteria; for example, INA in an intertidal mollusc was associated with presence of *Pseudomonas fulva* [175].

INA activities have also been linked to specific proteins and lipoproteins (also known as INPs). Knowledge about the molecular pathways for direct seasonal adaptation by synthesis of these agents remains incomplete. A protein in the plasma of cold tolerant *Rana sylvatica* has been shown to have INA properties [298]. A 74Kd protein has been purified and characterised from the overwintering insect species, *Vespula maculate* [71], whilst a much larger 800 Kd lipoprotein has been linked to INP activity in *Tipula trivittata* [72].

To our knowledge, there have not yet been recorded attempts to modify natural INPs, as has been done for AFPs. The importance of controlling ice nucleation across a broad range of cryobiological applications beyond natural cold tolerance has been recently reviewed [206]. Inert chemical structures such as activated charcoal or zeolites can demonstrate INA properties [207] but such processes are beyond the remit of this review. The importance of INA activities, in many cases linked with chemical or biological micro-particles, has also been recognized in the atmospheric cloud cycle [12, 297].

## 7. CPA Mixtures: Trading Synergy and Avoidance of Ice Damage Against

## Complexity

The concept of vitrification has been touched upon in several of the earlier sections. The concept of restricting the ice nucleation process in aqueous solutions at deep cryogenic temperatures has been of interest for many decades. The presence of high concentrations of solutes can stabilize the amorphous patterns of water molecules in solution on a kinetic basis, and increase viscosity, favoring vitrification during cooling. High pressures can also inhibit ice nucleation. Luyet and

colleagues worked on this phenomenon in aqueous biological systems for several decades from the 1930s [90, 182, 183]. Luyet [181] discussed such concepts as 'amorphization', whilst also accepting that the generally accepted terminology is 'vitrification'. To quote from Luyet [181] 'We are up against a wall (*viz.* vitrification in biology). Our best chance to break through is probably to use high concentrations of solutes'. They and others were aware that in dilute aqueous systems (such as 20% glycerol), extremely high cooling rates (>10<sup>4</sup> °C/second) were necessary for vitrification. Fahy and colleagues discussed these physical parameters in the context of cryobiology [92, 93, 301], in particular the notion that by increasing the solute concentrations greatly, it was theoretically and demonstrably possible to kinetically interfere with ice nucleation and crystal growth and achieve a 'glassy state' at extremely low temperatures, in systems that may be biologically tolerated. There are many excellent reviews on the physical bases for vitrification that are beyond the scope of the current discussion [5, 59, 90, 188, 294, 301]. The seminal work on vitrifying mouse embryos by Rall and Fahy 30 years ago [241] placed vitrification clearly in the field of practical cryopreservation.

Here we shall discuss the CPA mixtures that have been most commonly used in applied vitrification. Details on common vitrification solutions, including composition, glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ), critical cooling/warming rates, and applications for each solution have been summarized in Table 2.

It is worth revisiting at this point the role of *non-permeating* CPAs in the development of practical vitrification approaches. It was recognized early on that extremely high concentrations of CPAs (in the region of 60% w/v) would be needed to achieve vitrification, which would likely cause significant toxic effects if achieved using agents such as Me<sub>2</sub>SO. By using non-penetrating CPAs (with inherently lower toxicities) to partially replace the amounts of permeating CPA, total solute concentrations could be maintained whilst reducing chemically-derived cell injury [89]. In addition, it was pointed out that cells naturally contain significant amounts of intracellular polymeric solutes such as proteins, and non-permeating CPAs could be used in the vitrification solution to balance the effective toxicities of the total extracellular and intracellular compartments, reducing to some
degree the intracellular concentrations of permeating CPA required to achieve vitrification for a given critical cooling rate [89, 240]. Polymers such as hydroxyethyl starch, polyethylene glycol and polyvinyl pyrrolidone were discussed in this context [89]. Shaw and colleagues [261] undertook studies investigating the chemical nature of vitrification in ethylene glycol mixtures supplemented with polymers including dextran, Ficoll and PVP, in which they showed that indeed polymers could effectively replace a significant amount of ethylene glycol whilst still achieving a glassy state in the solutions during cooling. In mouse embryo vitrification, some of these same polymers (dextran or Ficoll) were successfully used to replace up to half of the concentration of ethylene glycol used as permeating CPAs [160] with good success. Sugars such as trehalose, sucrose or raffinose can also be used in a similar way to achieve practical vitrification with lower concentrations of permeating agents such as ethylene glycol [159]. These classes of non-permeating CPA also tend to increase the viscosity of the carrier solutions, which tends to favour vitrification of the external solution and in some cases results in raised glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ), as discussed by Fahy and Wowk [90].

Further details on the CPA mixtures, methods of exposure and dilution used in the early embryo vitrification experiments were given by Rall [243]. VS1 is an equimolar mixture of Me<sub>2</sub>SO and acetamide (2.62M), with propanediol (1.3M), and polyethelyne glycol (MW 8000; 6% w/vol), a mixture described by Fahy & colleagues [89]. PEG, which was added as the polymer, had been shown to improve tendency towards vitrification [89]. The cooling rates in the small samples were high (<2000 °C/min), and rapid rewarming (>200 °C/min) was beneficial. These approaches were rapidly repeated in other embryo and oocyte vitrification studies [104, 212]. From that point onwards, vitrification within reproductive medicine spawned an entire industry within cryobiology, with a number of technical innovations, such as small sample holders (e.g. cryoloop, cryotop, open pulled straws [161, 174, 247]) developed specifically for embryos or oocytes. A sampling of current vitrification systems used for small volume samples is shown in Table 3. Many combinations of CPAs have been evaluated, leading to the widely used vitrification solution based on (w/v) 15% Me<sub>2</sub>SO,

15% ethylene glycol, 0.5M sucrose [161]. A pre-loading phase (7.5% Me<sub>2</sub>SO, 7.5% EG) is usually performed for about 12 min, followed by a 1 min exposure to full vitrification mix before rapid cooling [249]. These approaches are by far the widest global clinical application of vitrification today.

The increased interest in vitrification has also led, in other species, to the development of modified CPA mixtures, chosen for specific reasons such as toxicity or ease of permeation, while based on the same overall philosophy. For example, in aquatic species (Coral), propylene glycol (3.5M), ethylene glycol (1.5M) and methanol (2M) has been used [277]. In plant tissue vitrification, a CPA mixture of 7M ethylene glycol, 0.9M sorbitol and 6% bovine serum albumin was applied to rye protoplasts [167]. Sakai's group [257] developed a number of plant vitrification solutions, and PVS2 was seen to be effective – with a CPA mixture of (w/v) 30% glycerol, 15% ethylene glycol and 15% Me<sub>2</sub>SO in Murashige-Tucker medium (MT) containing 0.15 M sucrose. As in other protocols, pre-loading was performed with 60% PVS2 at 25°C for 5 min and before exposure to full chilled PVS2 at 0°C for 3 min. In plant systems, additional manipulations such as encapsulation dehydration of the tissues, which reduces free water content capable of nucleating ice, has been used to improve outcomes with PVS2 [115]. In some systems, modifications such as PVS3 (50% glycerol; 50% sucrose) have been proposed to improve the toxicity profile [285]. The PVS range of CPA mixtures remain the most widely used agents for plant tissue vitrification [256]. It is also worth highlighting that whilst these laboratory developments for plant vitrification have been made over the past 20 years, there is a parallel set of studies in environmental plant cold tolerance which indicate that natural vitrification processes may occur during overwintering [122].

One area of focus for a supportive role for solute additives in CPA mixtures, especially in intended vitrification, is ice nucleation inhibition (see also Section 6). Early on, the concept of using AFP (as ice nucleation inhibitors) to improve the tendency for achieving and stabilising the vitrified state in bulk aqueous samples was investigated by Sutton and Pegg [270]. They particularly commented on the ability of AFP to reduce the critical warming rate to avoid devitrification and potential ice nucleation

in their model CPA mixture during warming. In relation to control of damaging ice formation, particularly during rewarming of vitrified biological samples, Fahy [85] discussed concepts related to creating synthetic 'ice blocker' molecules. This was taken further by Wowk et al. [300, 302, 303] who studied synthetic variants of polyvinyl alcohol and polyglycerol which could reduce ice crystal nucleation and growth in experimental vitrification studies. A naturally-occurring flavonol glycoside has been identified in cold tolerant tree species and investigated in laboratory vitrification experiments [139]. The topic has recently been reviewed by Wowk [90, 301]. Recently, the application of iron-centred nanoparticles as a component of a vitrification mixture to enhance uniform warming in vitrified samples has shown some success [190]. This may open up the possibility for future classes of CPAs to be developed on biophysical rather than biochemical properties.

In terms of CPA mixtures for vitrification of larger tissues, the combinations have often largely been based around the original recipes from Rall and Fahy using Me<sub>2</sub>SO, and acetamide [241], or by Song and colleagues using Me<sub>2</sub>SO, formamide and propylene glycol already discussed [241, 266]. Butanediol has been suggested as a polyol with favourable glass forming tendencies [26], but this agent has not found widespread application due to concerns about toxicity at the required concentrations [21]. In chondrocyte studies, a CPA mixture (final solute concentration of 6M) based on equal concentrations of Me<sub>2</sub>SO, formamide, ethylene glycol has been proposed [3]. The increase in CPA total concentration (to 12.6M) used recently for heart valve biopreservation [31] again was based on a similar 3 CPA mixture – in this case, Me<sub>2</sub>SO – 4.65M, formamide – 4.65M, propylene glycol – 3 31M, but these extremely high concentrations were selected for specific purposes. Whilst these developments offer great promise for the future, we could find no published clinical trials of their use so far.

## 8. Summary

Whilst applications of CPAs in cryobiology and cryo-technologies have progressed into many widely used applications, a greater understanding of the molecular actions of these agents has been achieved over the past decade. New techniques are now being applied to study both the biological and biophysical properties of CPAs, which will take cryobiology further forward. Additionally, the ice modifying properties of certain CPAs are becoming of interest in many diverse areas, such as food freezing processes [29]. In addition, new ideas are coming forward to resolve or control central issues, such as ice nucleation and crystal growth, or achievement of vitrification in biological samples at cryogenic temperatures. Taken together, these show great promise to improve and widen the application of cryogenic preservation as a significant enhancing technology for the future.

## Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by grant #5RO1GM101796 from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to GDE.

## References

[1] A. Abazari, N.M. Jomha, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, Cryopreservation of articular cartilage, Cryobiology, 66 (2013) 201-209.

[2] K.P. Agrawal, C. Polge, Survival of mouse embryos after being frozen in glycerol-sucrose mixture, Indian J Exp Biol, 27 (1989) 474-475.

[3] K.A. Almansoori, V. Prasad, J.F. Forbes, G.K. Law, L.E. McGann, J.A.W. Elliott, N.M. Jomha, Cryoprotective agent toxicity interactions in human articular chondrocytes, Cryobiology, 64 (2012) 185-191. [4] L. Anel-Lopez, M. Alvarez-Rodriguez, O. Garcia-Alvarez, M. Alvarez, A. Maroto-Morales, L. Anel, P. de Paz, J.J. Garde, F. Martinez-Pastor, Reduced glutathione and Trolox (vitamin E) as extender supplements in cryopreservation of red deer epididymal spermatozoa, Anim Reprod Sci, 135 (2012) 37-46.

[5] C.A. Angell, Insights into phases of liquid water from study of its unusual glass-forming properties, Science, 319 (2008) 582-587.

[6] M.S. Ansari, B.A. Rakha, S.M. Andrabi, N. Ullah, R. Iqbal, W.V. Holt, S. Akhter, Glutathionesupplemented tris-citric acid extender improves the post-thaw quality and in vivo fertility of buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) bull spermatozoa, Reprod Biol, 12 (2012) 271-276.

[7] T. Arakawa, J.F. Carpenter, Y.A. Kita, J.H. Crowe, The Basis for Toxicity of Certain Cryoprotectants - a Hypothesis, Cryobiology, 27 (1990) 401-415.

[8] W.J. Armitage, Cryopreservation for corneal storage, Dev Ophthalmol, 43 (2009) 63-69.

[9] W.J. Armitage, S.C. Hall, C. Routledge, Recovery of endothelial function after vitrification of cornea at -110 degrees C, Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 43 (2002) 2160-2164.

[10] F.G. Arnaud, B. Khirabadi, G.M. Fahy, Physiological evaluation of a rabbit kidney perfused with VS41A, Cryobiology, 46 (2003) 289-294.

[11] M.J. Ashwood-Smith, Mechanisms of cryoprotectant action, Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology, 41 (1987) 395-406.

[12] J.D. Atkinson, B.J. Murray, M.T. Woodhouse, T.F. Whale, K.J. Baustian, K.S. Carslaw, S. Dobbie, D. O'Sullivan, T.L. Malkin, The importance of feldspar for ice nucleation by mineral dust in mixed-phase clouds, Nature, 498 (2013) 355-358.

[13] I.B. Bakaltcheva, C.O. Odeyale, B.J. Spargo, Effects of alkanols, alkanediols and glycerol on red blood cell shape and hemolysis, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1280 (1996) 73-80.

[14] J. Bakhach, The cryopreservation of composite tissues: Principles and recent advancement on cryopreservation of different type of tissues, Organogenesis, 5 (2009) 119-126.

[15] M. Bar-Dolev, Y. Celik, J.S. Wettlaufer, P.L. Davies, I. Braslavsky, New insights into ice growth and melting modifications by antifreeze proteins, J R Soc Interface, 9 (2012) 3249-3259.

[16] M. Bar Dolev, I. Braslavsky, P.L. Davies, Ice-Binding Proteins and Their Function, Annu Rev Biochem, 85 (2016) 515-542.

[17] T. Bartels-Rausch, V. Bergeron, J.H.E. Cartwright, R. Escribano, J.L. Finney, H. Grothe, P. Gutiérrez, J. Haapala, W.F. Kuhs, P. J.B.C.;, S.D. Price, C.I. Sainz-Díaz, D. Stokes, S. G.;, T. E.S.;, H. Trinks, N. Uras-Aytemiz, Ice structures, patterns, and processes: A view across the ice-fields, Rev. Mod. Phys., 84 (2012) 60.

[18] J.M. Baust, M.J. Vogel, R. Van Buskirk, J.G. Baust, A molecular basis of cryopreservation failure and its modulation to improve cell survival, Cell Transplant, 10 (2001) 561-571.

[19] S.J. Baxter, G.H. Lathe, Biochemical effects of kidney of exposure to high concentrations of dimethyl sulphoxide, Biochem Pharmacol, 20 (1971) 1079-1091.

[20] J.D. Benson, A.J. Kearsley, A.Z. Higgins, Mathematical optimization of procedures for cryoprotectant equilibration using a toxicity cost function, Cryobiology, 64 (2012) 144-151.

[21] B.P. Best, Cryoprotectant toxicity: facts, issues, and questions, Rejuvenation Res, 18 (2015) 422-436.

[22] V. Bianchi, G. Coticchio, V. Distratis, N. Di Giusto, C. Flamigni, A. Borini, Differential sucrose concentration during dehydration (0.2 mol/l) and rehydration (0.3 mol/l) increases the implantation rate of frozen human oocytes, Reprod Biomed Online, 14 (2007) 64-71.

[23] J.C. Bischof, W.F. Wolkers, N.M. Tsvetkova, A.E. Oliver, J.H. Crowe, Lipid and protein changes due to freezing in Dunning AT-1 cells, Cryobiology, 45 (2002) 22-32.

[24] A. Bissoyi, B. Nayak, K. Pramanik, S.K. Sarangi, Targeting cryopreservation-induced cell death: a review, Biopreserv Biobank, 12 (2014) 23-34.

[25] R. Blondet, M.A. Gibert-Thevenin, C. Pierre, A. Ehrsam, Skin preservation by programmed freezing, Br J Plast Surg, 35 (1982) 530-536.

[26] P. Boutron, P. Mehl, A. Kaufmann, P. Angibaud, Glass-forming tendency and stability of the amorphous state in the aqueous solutions of linear polyalcohols with four carbons. I. Binary systems water-polyalcohol, Cryobiology, 23 (1986) 453-469.

[27] T.N. Bower, G. Rocha, Antimicrobial effect of cryopreservation on donor ocular tissue, Cornea,33 (2014) 355-358.

[28] R. Boyle, New experiments and observations touching cold, or, An experimental history of cold begun to which are added an examen of antiperistasis and an examen of Mr. Hobs's doctrine about cold, Ann Arbor, MI ; Oxford (UK), London, 1665.

[29] J.G. Briard, J.S. Poisson, T.R. Turner, C.J. Capicciotti, J.P. Acker, R.N. Ben, Small molecule ice recrystallization inhibitors mitigate red blood cell lysis during freezing, transient warming and thawing, Sci Rep, 6 (2016) 23619.

[30] K.G. Brockbank, Z. Chen, E.D. Greene, L.H. Campbell, Vitrification of heart valve tissues, Methods Mol Biol, 1257 (2015) 399-421.

[31] K.G. Brockbank, G.J. Wright, H. Yao, E.D. Greene, Z.Z. Chen, K. Schenke-Layland, Allogeneic heart valve storage above the glass transition at -80 degrees C, Ann Thorac Surg, 91 (2011) 1829-1835.

[32] J.A. Capella, H.E. Kaufman, J.E. Robbins, Preservation of viable corneal tissue, Arch Ophthalmol, 74 (1965) 669-673.

[33] C.J. Capicciotti, J.D.R. Kurach, T.R. Turner, R.S. Mancini, J.P. Acker, R.N. Ben, Small molecule ice recrystallization inhibitors enable freezing of human red blood cells with reduced glycerol concentrations, Sci Rep-Uk, 5 (2015).

[34] C.J. Capicciotti, M. Leclere, F.A. Perras, D.L. Bryce, H. Paulin, J. Harden, Y. Liu, R.N. Ben, Potent inhibition of ice recrystallization by low molecular weight carbohydrate-based surfactants and hydrogelators, Chem Sci, 3 (2012) 1408-1416.

[35] C.J.D. Capicciotti, M.; Ben, R.N., Ice recrystallization inhibitors: from biological antifreezes to small molecules, in: P. Wilson (Ed.) Recent developments in the study of recrystallization, New York, 2013, pp. 177-224.

[36] J.F. Carpenter, J.H. Crowe, The mechanism of cryoprotection of proteins by solutes, Cryobiology,25 (1988) 244-255.

[37] Y. Celik, R. Drori, N. Pertaya-Braun, A. Altan, T. Barton, M. Bar-Dolev, A. Groisman, P.L. Davies, I. Braslavsky, Microfluidic experiments reveal that antifreeze proteins bound to ice crystals suffice to prevent their growth, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 110 (2013) 1309-1314.

[38] S.R. Chamberlin, J. Kruuv, D.A. Sprott, Statistical methods for measuring interactions between protectors and sensitizers for freeze-thaw survival data, Cryobiology, 26 (1989) 369-377.

[39] G.Q. Chen, L. Ren, J. Zhang, B.M. Reed, D. Zhang, X.H. Shen, Cryopreservation affects ROSinduced oxidative stress and antioxidant response in Arabidopsis seedlings, Cryobiology, 70 (2015) 38-47.

[40] H.C. Cheng, W.J. Armitage, M.I. Yagoubi, D.L. Easty, Viability of keratocytes in epikeratophakia lenticules, Br J Ophthalmol, 80 (1996) 367-372.

[41] R.C. Chian, M. Kuwayama, L. Tan, J. Tan, O. Kato, T. Nagai, High survival rate of bovine oocytes matured in vitro following vitrification, J Reprod Dev, 50 (2004) 685-696.

[42] J.K. Choi, H. Huang, X. He, Improved low-CPA vitrification of mouse oocytes using quartz microcapillary, Cryobiology, 70 (2015) 269-272.

[43] P. Clark, G.M. Fahy, A.M. Karow, Jr., Factors influencing renal cryopreservation. I. Effects of three vehicle solutions and the permeation kinetics of three cryoprotectants assessed with rabbit cortical slices, Cryobiology, 21 (1984) 260-273.

[44] P. Clark, G.M. Fahy, A.M. Karow, Jr., Factors influencing renal cryopreservation. II. Toxic effects of three cryoprotectants in combination with three vehicle solutions in nonfrozen rabbit cortical slices, Cryobiology, 21 (1984) 274-284.

[45] J.S. Clegg, Metabolic consequences of the extent and disposition of the aqueous intracellular environment, J Exp Zool, 215 (1981) 303-313.

[46] J.S. Clegg, P. Seitz, W. Seitz, C.F. Hazlewood, Cellular responses to extreme water loss: the water-replacement hypothesis, Cryobiology, 19 (1982) 306-316.

[47] F.H. Cocks, W.E. Brower, Phase diagram relationships in cryobiology, Cryobiology, 11 (1974) 340-358.

[48] T.E. Conover, Influence of Organic Solutes on Reactions of Oxidative Phosphorylation, J Biol Chem, 244 (1969) 254-&.

[49] R.M. Cordeiro, S. Stirling, G.M. Fahy, J.P. de Magalhaes, Insights on cryoprotectant toxicity from gene expression profiling of endothelial cells exposed to ethylene glycol, Cryobiology, 71 (2015) 405-412.

[50] G. Coticchio, L. De Santis, G. Rossi, A. Borini, D. Albertini, G. Scaravelli, C. Alecci, V. Bianchi, S. Nottola, S. Cecconi, Sucrose concentration influences the rate of human oocytes with normal spindle and chromosome configurations after slow-cooling cryopreservation, Human Reproduction, 21 (2006) 1771-1776.

[51] B. Courbiere, L. Caquant, C. Mazoyer, M. Franck, J. Lornage, B. Salle, Difficulties improving ovarian functional recovery by microvascular transplantation and whole ovary vitrification, Fertility and Sterility, 91 (2009) 2697-2706.

[52] B. Courbiere, V. Odagescu, A. Baudot, J. Massardier, C. Mazoyer, B. Salle, J. Lornage, Cryopreservation of the ovary by vitrification as an alternative to slow-cooling protocols, Fertility and Sterility, 86 (2006) 1243-1251.

[53] J.H. Crowe, L.M. Crowe, J.F. Carpenter, A.S. Rudolph, C.A. Wistrom, B.J. Spargo, T.J. Anchordoguy, Interactions of sugars with membranes, Biochim Biophys Acta, 947 (1988) 367-384.

[54] J.H. Crowe, F.A. Hoekstra, L.M. Crowe, T.J. Anchordoguy, E. Drobnis, Lipid phase-transitions measured in intact-cells with Fourier-transform infrared-spectroscopy, Cryobiology, 26 (1989) 76-84.

[55] L.M. Crowe, R. Mouradian, J.H. Crowe, S.A. Jackson, C. Womersley, Effects of carbohydrates on membrane stability at low water activities, Biochim Biophys Acta, 769 (1984) 141-150.

[56] A.F. Davidson, J.D. Benson, A.Z. Higgins, Mathematically optimized cryoprotectant equilibration procedures for cryopreservation of human oocytes, Theor Biol Med Model, 11 (2014) 13.

[57] A.F. Davidson, C. Glasscock, D.R. McClanahan, J.D. Benson, A.Z. Higgins, Toxicity Minimized Cryoprotectant Addition and Removal Procedures for Adherent Endothelial Cells, PLoS One, 10 (2015) e0142828.

[58] P.L. Davies, C.L. Hew, Biochemistry of fish antifreeze proteins, FASEB J, 4 (1990) 2460-2468.

[59] P.G. Debenedetti, F.H. Stillinger, Supercooled liquids and the glass transition, Nature, 410 (2001) 259-267.

[60] N.N. Desai, J.M. Goldberg, C. Austin, T. Falcone, The new Rapid-i carrier is an effective system for human embryo vitrification at both the blastocyst and cleavage stage, Reprod Biol Endocrin, 11 (2013).

[61] A.L. DeVries, Antifreeze peptides and glycopeptides in cold-water fishes, Annu Rev Physiol, 45 (1983) 245-260.

[62] A.L. DeVries, Freezing resistance in some antartic fishes, Stanford University, California, 1968.

[63] A.L. Devries, Y. Lin, Structure of a peptide antifreeze and mechanism of adsorption to ice, Biochim Biophys Acta, 495 (1977) 388-392.

[64] B.A. Didion, D. Pomp, M.J. Martin, G.E. Homanics, C.L. Markert, Observations on the cooling and cryopreservation of pig oocytes at the germinal vesicle stage, J Anim Sci, 68 (1990) 2803-2810.

[65] G.F. Doebbler, Cryoprotective compounds. Review and discussion of structure and function, Cryobiology, 3 (1966) 2-11.

[66] G.F. Doebbler, R.R. Sakaida, C.W. Cowley, A.P. Rinfret, Cryogenic preservation of whole blood for transfusion in vitro study of a process using rapid freezing, thawing and protection by polyvinylpyrrolidone, Transfusion, 6 (1966) 104-111.

[67] N.E. Dorsey, The freezing of supercooled water, Transactions of the American Philosophical Society, 38 (1948) 82.

[68] J.G. Duman, Animal ice-binding (antifreeze) proteins and glycolipids: an overview with emphasis on physiological function, J Exp Biol, 218 (2015) 1846-1855.

[69] J.G. Duman, Insect antifreezes and ice-nucleating agents, Cryobiology, 19 (1982) 613-627.

[70] J.G. Duman, N. Li, D. Verleye, F.W. Goetz, D.W. Wu, C.A. Andorfer, T. Benjamin, D.C. Parmelee, Molecular characterization and sequencing of antifreeze proteins from larvae of the beetle Dendroides canadensis, J Comp Physiol B, 168 (1998) 225-232.

[71] J.G. Duman, J.P. Morris, F.J. Castellino, Purification and composition of an ice nucleating protein from queens of the hornet, Vespula-maculata, J Comp Physiol, 154 (1984) 79-83.

[72] J.G. Duman, L.G. Neven, J.M. Beals, K.R. Olson, F.J. Castellino, Freeze-Tolerance Adaptations, Including Hemolymph Protein and Lipoprotein Nucleators, in the Larvae of the Crane-Fly Tipula-Trivittata, J Insect Physiol, 31 (1985) 1-8.

[73] D.P. Eisenberg, Y. Rabin, Stress-Strain Measurements in Vitrified Arteries Permeated With Synthetic Ice Modulators, J Biomech Eng, 137 (2015) 081007.

[74] D.P. Eisenberg, M.J. Taylor, J.L. Jimenez-Rios, Y. Rabin, Thermal expansion of vitrified blood vessels permeated with DP6 and synthetic ice modulators, Cryobiology, 68 (2014) 318-326.

[75] B.C. Elford, C.A. Walter, Effects of electrolyte composition and Ph on structure and function of smooth muscle cooled to -79 degrees C in unfrozen media, Cryobiology, 9 (1972) 82-&.

[76] B.C. Elford, C.A. Walter, Preservation of structure and function of smooth muscle cooled to -79 degrees C in unfrozen aqueous-media, Nature-New Biol, 236 (1972) 58-&.

[77] J.A.W. Elliott, R.C. Prickett, H.Y. Elmoazzen, K.R. Porter, L.E. McGann, A multisolute osmotic virial equation for solutions of interest in biology, J Phys Chem B, 111 (2007) 1775-1785.

[78] H.Y. Elmoazzen, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, Cryoprotectant equilibration in tissues, Cryobiology, 51 (2005) 85-91.

[79] H.Y. Elmoazzen, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, Osmotic transport across cell membranes in nondilute solutions: a new nondilute solute transport equation, Biophys J, 96 (2009) 2559-2571.

[80] H.Y. Elmoazzen, A. Poovadan, G.K. Law, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, N.M. Jomha, Dimethyl sulfoxide toxicity kinetics in intact articular cartilage, Cell Tissue Bank, 8 (2007) 125-133.

[81] R. Fabbri, E. Porcu, T. Marsella, G. Rocchetta, S. Venturoli, C. Flamigni, Human oocyte cryopreservation: new perspectives regarding oocyte survival, Hum Reprod, 16 (2001) 411-416.

[82] G.M. Fahy, Cryoprotectant toxicity neutralization, Cryobiology, 60 (2010) S45-53.

[83] G.M. Fahy, Organ perfusion equipment for the introduction and removal of cryoprotectants, Biomed Instrum Technol, 28 (1994) 87-100.

[84] G.M. Fahy, The relevance of cryoprotectant "toxicity" to cryobiology, Cryobiology, 23 (1986) 1-13.

[85] G.M. Fahy, The role of ice nucleation in cryopreservation. , in: R.E.W. Lee, G.J.; Gusta, L.V. (Ed.) Biological ice nucleation and its applications, APS Press, Minnesota, 1995, pp. 315-336.

[86] G.M. Fahy, S.E. Ali, Cryopreservation of the mammalian kidney. II. Demonstration of immediate ex vivo function after introduction and removal of 7.5 M cryoprotectant, Cryobiology, 35 (1997) 114-131.

[87] G.M. Fahy, A.M. Karow, Jr., Ultrastructure-function correlative studies for cardiac cryopreservation. V. Absence of a correlation between electrolyte toxicity and cryoinjury in the slowly frozen, cryoprotected rat heart, Cryobiology, 14 (1977) 418-427.

[88] G.M. Fahy, T.H. Lilley, H. Linsdell, M.S. Douglas, H.T. Meryman, Cryoprotectant toxicity and cryoprotectant toxicity reduction: in search of molecular mechanisms, Cryobiology, 27 (1990) 247-268.

[89] G.M. Fahy, D.R. Macfarlane, C.A. Angell, H.T. Meryman, Vitrification as an approach to cryopreservation, Cryobiology, 21 (1984) 407-426.

[90] G.M. Fahy, B. Wowk, Principles of cryopreservation by vitrification, Methods Mol Biol, 1257 (2015) 21-82.

[91] G.M. Fahy, B. Wowk, R. Pagotan, A. Chang, J. Phan, B. Thomson, L. Phan, Physical and biological aspects of renal vitrification, Organogenesis, 5 (2009) 167-175.

[92] G.M. Fahy, B. Wowk, J. Wu, S. Paynter, Improved vitrification solutions based on the predictability of vitrification solution toxicity, Cryobiology, 48 (2004) 22-35.

[93] G.M. Fahy, B. Wowk, J. Wu, J. Phan, C. Rasch, A. Chang, E. Zendejas, Cryopreservation of organs by vitrification: perspectives and recent advances, Cryobiology, 48 (2004) 157-178.

[94] A. Falenty, T.C. Hansen, W.F. Kuhs, Formation and properties of ice XVI obtained by emptying a type sll clathrate hydrate, Nature, 516 (2014) 231-233.

[95] L. Fang, C. Bai, Y. Chen, J. Dai, Y. Xiang, X. Ji, C. Huang, Q. Dong, Inhibition of ROS production through mitochondria-targeted antioxidant and mitochondrial uncoupling increases post-thaw sperm viability in yellow catfish, Cryobiology, 69 (2014) 386-393.

[96] J. Farrant, Mechanism of Cell Damage during Freezing and Thawing and Its Prevention, Nature, 205 (1965) 1284-&.

[97] C. Fedorow, L.E. McGann, G.S. Korbutt, G.R. Rayat, R.V. Rajotte, J.R. Lakey, Osmotic and cryoprotectant permeation characteristics of islet cells isolated from the newborn pig pancreas, Cell Transplant, 10 (2001) 651-659.

[98] J.L. Finney, Water? What's so special about it?, Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 359 (2004) 1145-1163; discussion 1163-1145, 1323-1148.

[99] R.A. Fleck, E.E. Benson, D.H. Bremner, J.G. Day, A comparative study of antioxidant protection in cryopreserved unicellular algae Euglena gracilis and Haematococcus pluvialis, Cryo Letters, 24 (2003) 213-228.

[100] L. Florio, M. Siewart, E.R. Mugrage, The effect of freezing on erythrocytes, J Lab Clin Med, 28 (1943) 1486-1490.

[101] F. Franks, Biological freezing and cryofixation, J Microsc, 111 (1977) 3-16.

[102] F. Franks, Nucleation of ice and its management in ecosystems, Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci, 361 (2003) 557-574; discussion 574.

[103] F. Franks, S.F. Mathias, R.H. Hatley, Water, temperature and life, Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 326 (1990) 517-531; discussion 531-513.

[104] S. Friedler, E. Shen, E.J. Lamb, Cryopreservation of mouse 2-cell embryos and ova by vitrification: methodologic studies, Fertil Steril, 48 (1987) 306-314.

[105] B.J. Fuller, Cryoprotectants: the essential antifreezes to protect life in the frozen state, Cryo Letters, 25 (2004) 375-388.

[106] B.J. Fuller, A.L. Busza, The Application of Nuclear Magnetic-Resonance Spectroscopy to Assess Viability in Stored Tissues and Organs, Cryobiology, 26 (1989) 248-255.

[107] B.J. Fuller, B.W. Grout, R.J. Woods, Biochemical and ultrastructural examination of cryopreserved hepatocytes in rat, Cryobiology, I9 (1982) 493-502.

[108] D.Y. Gao, P. Mazur, F.W. Kleinhans, P.F. Watson, E.E. Noiles, J.K. Critser, Glycerol permeability of human spermatozoa and its activation energy, Cryobiology, 29 (1992) 657-667.

[109] K.D. Garlid, The state of water in biological systems, Int Rev Cytol, 192 (2000) 281-302.

[110] D.A. Gook, S.M. Osborn, W.I. Johnston, Cryopreservation of mouse and human oocytes using 1,2-propanediol and the configuration of the meiotic spindle, Hum Reprod, 8 (1993) 1101-1109.

[111] M. Griffith, C. Lumb, S.B. Wiseman, M. Wisniewski, R.W. Johnson, A.G. Marangoni, Antifreeze proteins modify the freezing process in planta, Plant Physiol, 138 (2005) 330-340.

[112] M. Guan, D.M. Rawson, T. Zhang, Cryopreservation of zebrafish (Danio rerio) oocytes by vitrification, Cryo Letters, 31 (2010) 230-238.

[113] K.C. Gupta, The mechanism of cryohemolysis: by direct observation with the cryomicroscope and the electron microscope, Cryobiology, 12 (1975) 417-426.

[114] R. Gupta, R. Deswal, Antifreeze proteins enable plants to survive in freezing conditions, J Biosci, 39 (2014) 931-944.

[115] S. Gupta, B.M. Reed, Cryopreservation of shoot tips of blackberry and raspberry by encapsulation-dehydration and vitrification, Cryo Letters, 27 (2006) 29-42.

[116] M. Hagedorn, M. McCarthy, V.L. Carter, S.A. Meyers, Oxidative stress in zebrafish (Danio rerio) sperm, PLoS One, 7 (2012) e39397.

[117] N.A. Halasz, H.A. Rosenfield, M.J. Orloff, L.N. Seifert, Whole organ preservation. II. Freezing studies, Surgery, 61 (1967) 417-421.

[118] D.O. Halwani, K.G. Brockbank, J.G. Duman, L.H. Campbell, Recombinant Dendroides canadensis antifreeze proteins as potential ingredients in cryopreservation solutions, Cryobiology, 68 (2014) 411-418.

[119] S. He, L.C. Woods, 3rd, Effects of dimethyl sulfoxide and glycine on cryopreservation induced damage of plasma membranes and mitochondria to striped bass (Morone saxatilis) sperm, Cryobiology, 48 (2004) 254-262.

[120] X. He, E.Y. Park, A. Fowler, M.L. Yarmush, M. Toner, Vitrification by ultra-fast cooling at a low concentration of cryoprotectants in a quartz micro-capillary: a study using murine embryonic stem cells, Cryobiology, 56 (2008) 223-232.

[121] M.H. Hermans, Preservation methods of allografts and their (lack of) influence on clinical results in partial thickness burns, Burns, 37 (2011) 873-881.

[122] A.G. Hirsh, R.J. Williams, H.T. Meryman, A novel method of natural cryoprotection : intracellular glass formation in deeply frozen populus, Plant Physiol, 79 (1985) 41-56.

[123] S.W. Hong, V. Sepilian, H.M. Chung, T.J. Kim, Cryopreserved human blastocysts after vitrification result in excellent implantation and clinical pregnancy rates, Fertil Steril, 92 (2009) 2062-2064.

[124] B.G. Hosu, S.F. Mullen, J.K. Critser, G. Forgacs, Reversible disassembly of the actin cytoskeleton improves the survival rate and developmental competence of cryopreserved mouse oocytes, PLoS One, 3 (2008) e2787.

[125] S. Hotamisligil, M. Toner, R.D. Powers, Changes in membrane integrity, cytoskeletal structure, and developmental potential of murine oocytes after vitrification in ethylene glycol, Biol Reprod, 55 (1996) 161-168.

[126] Z. Hubalek, Protectants used in the cryopreservation of microorganisms, Cryobiology, 46 (2003) 205-229.

[127] Z.E. Hughes, A.E. Mark, R.L. Mancera, Molecular Dynamics Simulations of the Interactions of DMSO with DPPC and DOPC Phospholipid Membranes, Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 116 (2012) 11911-11923.

[128] J.E. Hunter, A. Bernard, B.J. Fuller, J.J. McGrath, R.W. Shaw, Measurements of the membrane water permeability (Lp) and its temperature dependence (activation energy) in human fresh and failed-to-fertilize oocytes and mouse oocyte, Cryobiology, 29 (1992) 240-249.

[129] M. Iwatani, K. Ikegami, Y. Kremenska, N. Hattori, S. Tanaka, S. Yagi, K. Shiota, Dimethyl sulfoxide has an impact on epigenetic profile in mouse embryoid body, Stem Cells, 24 (2006) 2549-2556.

[130] G. Jacob, M.N. Kurzer, B.J. Fuller, An assessment of tumor cell viability after in vitro freezing, Cryobiology, 22 (1985) 417-426.

[131] I.A. Jacobsen, Cooling of rabbit kidneys permeated with glycerol to sub-zero temperatures, Cryobiology, 16 (1979) 24-34.

[132] I.A. Jacobsen, D.E. Pegg, H. Starklint, J. Chemnitz, C. Hunt, P. Barfort, M.P. Diaper, Effect of cooling and warming rate on glycerolized rabbit kidneys, Cryobiology, 21 (1984) 637-653.

[133] I.A. Jacobsen, D.E. Pegg, H. Starklint, C.J. Hunt, P. Barfort, M.P. Diaper, Introduction and removal of cryoprotective agents with rabbit kidneys: assessment by transplantation, Cryobiology, 25 (1988) 285-299.

[134] I.A. Jacobsen, D.E. Pegg, M.C. Wusteman, S.M. Robinson, Transplantation of rabbit kidneys perfused with glycerol solutions at 10 degrees C, Cryobiology, 15 (1978) 18-26.

[135] Y.T. Ji, D.Y. Chen, S.L. Jiang, C.Q. Qu, Effect of Fasudil Hydrochloride on the Post-Thaw Viability of Cryopreserved Porcine Adipose-Derived Stem Cells, Cryoletters, 35 (2014) 356-360.

[136] M.H. Johnson, S.J. Pickering, The effect of dimethylsulphoxide on the microtubular system of the mouse oocyte, Development, 100 (1987) 313-324.

[137] C. Joly, O. Bchini, H. Boulekbache, J. Testart, B. Maro, Effects of 1,2-propanediol on the cytoskeletal organization of the mouse oocyte, Hum Reprod, 7 (1992) 374-378.

[138] N.M. Jomha, G.K. Law, A. Abazari, K. Rekieh, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, Permeation of several cryoprotectant agents into porcine articular cartilage, Cryobiology, 58 (2009) 110-114.

[139] D. Kami, J. Kasuga, K. Arakawa, S. Fujikawa, Improved cryopreservation by diluted vitrification solution with supercooling-facilitating flavonol glycoside, Cryobiology, 57 (2008) 242-245.

[140] A.M. Karow, Biological effects of cryoprotectant perfusion, delivery and removal to non-frozen organs, in: D.E.K. Pegg, A. M. (Ed.) The biophysics of organ cryopreservation, Plenum Press, New York, 1981, pp. 25-49.

[141] A.M. Karow, Biological Effects of Cryoprotectants as Related to Cardiac Cryopreservation, Cryobiology, 5 (1969) 429-&.

[142] A.M. Karow, Problems of organ cryopreservation, in: A.M.J.P. Karow, D.E.; Dekker, M. (Ed.) Organ preservation for transplantation, New York, 1981, pp. 517-552. [143] A.M. Karow, Jr., Cryoprotectants--a new class of drugs, J Pharm Pharmacol, 21 (1969) 209-223.

[144] A.M. Karow, Jr., Dimethylsulphoxide effect on myocardial -adrenoceptors, J Pharm Pharmacol,24 (1972) 419-421.

[145] A.M. Karow, Jr., O. Carrier, Jr., B.R. Clower, Toxicity of cryoprotective agents at 30 degrees, J Pharm Pharmacol, 20 (1968) 297-301.

[146] A.M. Karow, Jr., S. Wiggins, G.O. Carrier, R. Brown, J.L. Matheny, Functional preservation of the mammalian kidney. V. pharmacokinetics of dimethyl sulfoxide (1.4M) in kidneys (rabbit and dog) perfused at 37, 25, or 10 degrees C followed by transplantation (dog), J Surg Res, 27 (1979) 93-99.

[147] A.M.J. Karow, Cryopreservation: pharmacological considerations., in: A.M.A. Karow,G.J.M.;Humphries, A.L. (Ed.) Organ Preservation for Transplantation, Little Brown & Co, Boston,1974, pp. 86-107.

[148] M. Kasai, J.H. Komi, A. Takakamo, H. Tsudera, T. Sakurai, T. Machida, A simple method for mouse embryo cryopreservation in a low toxicity vitrification solution, without appreciable loss of viability, J Reprod Fertil, 89 (1990) 91-97.

[149] Katkov, II, A two-parameter model of cell membrane permeability for multisolute systems, Cryobiology, 40 (2000) 64-83.

[150] A.G. Kay, J.A. Hoyland, P. Rooney, J.N. Kearney, D.E. Pegg, A liquidus tracking approach to the cryopreservation of human cartilage allografts, Cryobiology, 71 (2015) 77-84.

[151] J.N. Kearney, L.A. Wheldon, G. Gowland, Effects of cryobiological variables on the survival of skin using a defined murine model, Cryobiology, 27 (1990) 164-170.

[152] S.C. Keith, Jr., Factors Influencing the Survival of Bacteria at Temperatures in the Vicinity of the Freezing Point of Water, Science, 37 (1913) 877-879.

[153] C.A. Knight, E. Driggers, A.L. DeVries, Adsorption to ice of fish antifreeze glycopeptides 7 and 8, Biophys J, 64 (1993) 252-259.

[154] T. Kojima, T. Soma, N. Oguri, Effect of Ice Nucleation by Droplet of Immobilized Silver-Iodide on Freezing of Rabbit and Bovine Embryos, Theriogenology, 30 (1988) 1199-1207.

[155] J. Kopeika, A. Thornhill, Y. Khalaf, The effect of cryopreservation on the genome of gametes and embryos: principles of cryobiology and critical appraisal of the evidence, Hum Reprod Update, 21 (2015) 209-227.

[156] E. Kristiansen, K.E. Zachariassen, The mechanism by which fish antifreeze proteins cause thermal hysteresis, Cryobiology, 51 (2005) 262-280.

[157] J. Kruuv, D.J. Glofcheski, Interactions of Combinations of Cryoprotectors and Cryosensitizers on Survival of Mammalian-Cells Exposed to Freeze-Thaw Damage, Cryobiology, 23 (1986) 551-551.

[158] M.J. Kuiper, C.J. Morton, S.E. Abraham, A. Gray-Weale, The biological function of an insect antifreeze protein simulated by molecular dynamics, Elife, 4 (2015).

[159] L.L. Kuleshova, D.R. MacFarlane, A.O. Trounson, J.M. Shaw, Sugars exert a major influence on the vitrification properties of ethylene glycol-based solutions and have low toxicity to embryos and oocytes, Cryobiology, 38 (1999) 119-130.

[160] L.L. Kuleshova, J.M. Shaw, A.O. Trounson, Studies on replacing most of the penetrating cryoprotectant by polymers for embryo cryopreservation, Cryobiology, 43 (2001) 21-31.

[161] M. Kuwayama, Highly efficient vitrification for cryopreservation of human oocytes and embryos: the Cryotop method, Theriogenology, 67 (2007) 73-80.

[162] M. Kuwayama, G. Vajta, S. Ieda, O. Kato, Comparison of open and closed methods for vitrification of human embryos and the elimination of potential contamination, Reprod Biomed Online, 11 (2005) 608-614.

[163] M. Kuwayama, G. Vajta, O. Kato, S.P. Leibo, Highly efficient vitrification method for cryopreservation of human oocytes, Reprod Biomed Online, 11 (2005) 300-308.

[164] J.R. Lakey, C.A. Aspinwall, T.J. Cavanagh, R.T. Kennedy, Secretion from islets and single islet cells following cryopreservation, Cell Transplant, 8 (1999) 691-698.

[165] J.R. Lakey, L.M. Helms, G. Moser, B. Lix, C.M. Slupsky, I.M. Rebeyka, B.D. Sykes, L.E. McGann, Dynamics of cryoprotectant permeation in porcine heart valve leaflets, Cell Transplant, 12 (2003) 123-128.

[166] M. Lane, B.D. Bavister, E.A. Lyons, K.T. Forest, Containerless vitrification of mammalian oocytes and embryos, Nat Biotechnol, 17 (1999) 1234-1236.

[167] R. Langis, P.L. Steponkus, Cryopreservation of rye protoplasts by vitrification, Plant Physiol, 92 (1990) 666-671.

[168] M.G. Larman, M.G. Minasi, L. Rienzi, D.K. Gardner, Maintenance of the meiotic spindle during vitrification in human and mouse oocytes, Reprod Biomed Online, 15 (2007) 692-700.

[169] H.J. Lee, H. Elmoazzen, D. Wright, J. Biggers, B.R. Rueda, Y.S. Heo, M. Toner, T.L. Toth, Ultrarapid vitrification of mouse oocytes in low cryoprotectant concentrations, Reprod Biomed Online, 20 (2010) 201-208.

[170] S.P. Leibo, J. Farrant, P. Mazur, M.G. Hanna, Jr., L.H. Smith, Effects of freezing on marrow stem cell suspensions: interactions of cooling and warming rates in the presence of PVP, sucrose, or glycerol, Cryobiology, 6 (1970) 315-332.

[171] S.P. Leibo, P. Mazur, The role of cooling rates in low-temperature preservation, Cryobiology, 8 (1971) 447-452.

[172] R.L. Levin, A generalized method for the minimization of cellular osmotic stresses and strains during the introduction and removal of permeable cryoprotectants, J Biomech Eng, 104 (1982) 81-86.

[173] J. Liu, M.A. Zieger, J.R. Lakey, E.J. Woods, J.K. Critser, The determination of membrane permeability coefficients of canine pancreatic islet cells and their application to islet cryopreservation, Cryobiology, 35 (1997) 1-13.

[174] Y. Liu, Y. Du, L. Lin, J. Li, P.M. Kragh, M. Kuwayama, L. Bolund, H. Yang, G. Vajta, Comparison of efficiency of open pulled straw (OPS) and Cryotop vitrification for cryopreservation of in vitro matured pig oocytes, Cryo Letters, 29 (2008) 315-320.

[175] S.H. Loomis, M. Zinser, Isolation and identification of an ice-nucleating bacterium from the gills of the intertidal bivalve mollusc Geukensia demissa, J Exp Mar Bio Ecol, 261 (2001) 225-235.

[176] J.S. Lorv, D.R. Rose, B.R. Glick, Bacterial ice crystal controlling proteins, Scientifica (Cairo), 2014 (2014) 976895.

[177] J.E. Lovelock, Biophysical aspects of the freezing and thawing of living cells, Proc R Soc Med, 47 (1954) 60-62.

[178] J.E. Lovelock, The mechanism of the protective action of glycerol against haemolysis by freezing and thawing, Biochim Biophys Acta, 11 (1953) 28-36.

[179] J.E. Lovelock, The protective action of neutral solutes against haemolysis by freezing and thawing, Biochem J, 56 (1954) 265-270.

[180] J.E. Lovelock, M.W. Bishop, Prevention of freezing damage to living cells by dimethyl sulphoxide, Nature, 183 (1959) 1394-1395.

[181] B. Luyet, Anatomy of freezing processes in physical systems, in: H.T. Meryman (Ed.) Cryobiology, Academic Press, New York, 1966, pp. 115-138.

[182] B.J. Luyet, On the growth of the ice phase in aqueous colloids, Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 147 (1957) 434-451.

[183] B.J. Luyet, P.M. Gehenio, Thermoelectric Recording of Ice Formation and of Vitrification during Ultra-Rapid Cooling of Protoplasm, Fed Proc, 6 (1947) 157-157.

[184] B.J. Luyet, J.F. Keane, Jr., Comparative efficiency of ethylene glycol, glucose and sodium chloride in protecting tissues against freezing injury, Biodynamica, 7 (1952) 119-131.

[185] B.J.G. Luyet, P.M., Life and death at low temperatures, Normandy, Mo.: Biodynamica, Missouri, USA, 1940.

[186] A. Luzar, D. Chandler, Structure and Hydrogen-Bond Dynamics of Water-Dimethyl Sulfoxide Mixtures by Computer-Simulations, J Chem Phys, 98 (1993) 8160-8173.

[187] P.T. Lynch, A. Siddika, J.W. Johnston, S.M. Trigwell, A. Mehra, C. Benelli, M. Lambardi, E.E. Benson, Effects of osmotic pretreatments on oxidative stress, antioxidant profiles and cryopreservation of olive somatic embryos, Plant Sci, 181 (2011) 47-56.

[188] D.R. MacFarlane, J. Pringle, G. Annat, Reversible self-polymerizing high T-g lyoprotectants, Cryobiology, 45 (2002) 188-192.

[189] A.R. Mahmoudzadeh, A. Van Soom, P. Bols, M.T. Ysebaert, A. de Kruif, Optimization of a simple vitrification procedure for bovine embryos produced in vitro: effect of developmental stage, two-

step addition of cryoprotectant and sucrose dilution on embryonic survival, J Reprod Fertil, 103 (1995) 33-39.

[190] N. Manuchehrabadi, Z. Gao, J. Zhang, H.L. Ring, Q. Shao, F. Liu, M. McDermott, A. Fok, Y. Rabin, K.G. Brockbank, M. Garwood, C.L. Haynes, J.C. Bischof, Improved tissue cryopreservation using inductive heating of magnetic nanoparticles, Sci Transl Med, 9 (2017).

[191] A. Martino, N. Songsasen, S.P. Leibo, Development into blastocysts of bovine oocytes cryopreserved by ultra-rapid cooling, Biol Reprod, 54 (1996) 1059-1069.

[192] S.R. May, R.M. Guttman, J.F. Wainwright, Cryopreservation of skin using an insulated heat sink box stored at -70 degrees C, Cryobiology, 22 (1985) 205-214.

[193] P. Mazur, Causes of injury in frozen and thawed cells, Fed Proc, 24 (1965) S175-182.

[194] P. Mazur, Cryobiology: the freezing of biological systems, Science, 168 (1970) 939-949.

[195] P. Mazur, Kinetics of Water Loss from Cells at Subzero Temperatures and the Likelihood of Intracellular Freezing, J Gen Physiol, 47 (1963) 347-369.

[196] F.J. McDonald, M.J. Welsh, Binding of the proline-rich region of the epithelial Na+ channel to SH3 domains and its association with specific cellular proteins, Biochem J, 312 (Pt 2) (1995) 491-497.

[197] L.E. McGann, Differing actions of penetrating and nonpenetrating cryoprotective agents, Cryobiology, 15 (1978) 382-390.

[198] L.E. McGann, J. Farrant, Survival of tissue culture cells frozen by a two-step procedure to -196 degrees C. I. Holding temperature and time, Cryobiology, 13 (1976) 261-268.

[199] H.T. Meryman, Cryoprotective agents, Cryobiology, 8 (1971) 173-183.

[200] H.T. Meryman, Freezing injury and its prevention in living cells, Annu Rev Biophys Bioeng, 3 (1974) 341-363.

[201] H.T. Meryman, M. Hornblower, A method for freezing and washing red blood cells using a high glycerol concentration, Transfusion, 12 (1972) 145-156.

[202] H.T. Meryman, R.J. Williams, M.S. Douglas, Freezing injury from "solution effects" and its prevention by natural or artificial cryoprotection, Cryobiology, 14 (1977) 287-302.

[203] K. Mohamed-Noriega, K.P. Toh, R. Poh, D. Balehosur, A. Riau, H.M. Htoon, G.S. Peh, S.S. Chaurasia, D.T. Tan, J.S. Mehta, Cornea lenticule viability and structural integrity after refractive lenticule extraction (ReLEx) and cryopreservation, Mol Vis, 17 (2011) 3437-3449.

[204] E.B. Moore, E. de la Llave, K. Welke, D.A. Scherlis, V. Molinero, Freezing, melting and structure of ice in a hydrophilic nanopore, Phys Chem Chem Phys, 12 (2010) 4124-4134.

[205] E.B. Moore, V. Molinero, Structural transformation in supercooled water controls the crystallization rate of ice, Nature, 479 (2011) 506-508.

[206] G.J. Morris, E. Acton, Controlled ice nucleation in cryopreservation--a review, Cryobiology, 66 (2013) 85-92.

[207] G.J. Morris, H.E. Richens, Improved methods for controlled rapid cooling of cell suspensions, Cryo Letters, 25 (2004) 265-272.

[208] T. Mukaida, C. Oka, T. Goto, K. Takahashi, Artificial shrinkage of blastocoeles using either a micro-needle or a laser pulse prior to the cooling steps of vitrification improves survival rate and pregnancy outcome of vitrified human blastocysts, Hum Reprod, 21 (2006) 3246-3252.

[209] K. Muldrew, L.E. McGann, Mechanisms of intracellular ice formation, Biophys J, 57 (1990) 525-532. [210] B.J. Murray, D. O'Sullivan, J.D. Atkinson, M.E. Webb, Ice nucleation by particles immersed in supercooled cloud droplets, Chem Soc Rev, 41 (2012) 6519-6554.

[211] S.M. Mutetwa, E.R. James, Cryopreservation of Plasmodium chabaudi. II. Cooling and warming rates, Cryobiology, 21 (1984) 552-558.

[212] N. Nakagata, High survival rate of unfertilized mouse oocytes after vitrification, J Reprod Fertil,87 (1989) 479-483.

[213] T. Nash, The chemical constitution of compounds which protect erythrocytes against freezing damage, J Gen Physiol, 46 (1962) 167-175.

[214] H. Newton, J. Fisher, J.R.P. Arnold, D.E. Pegg, M.J. Faddy, R.G. Gosden, Permeation of human ovarian tissue with cryoprotective agents in preparation for cryopreservation, Human Reproduction, 13 (1998) 376-380.

[215] S.J. O'Dell, J.H. Crowe, Freezing in nematodes: the effects of variable water contents, Cryobiology, 16 (1979) 534-541.

[216] K. Oda, W.E. Gibbons, S.P. Leibo, Osmotic shock of fertilized mouse ova, J Reprod Fertil, 95 (1992) 737-747.

[217] H. Oldenhof, K. Friedel, M. Akhoondi, M. Gojowsky, W.F. Wolkers, H. Sieme, Membrane phase behavior during cooling of stallion sperm and its correlation with freezability, Mol Membr Biol, 29 (2012) 95-106.

[218] H. Oldenhof, M. Gojowsky, S. Wang, S. Henke, C. Yu, K. Rohn, W.F. Wolkers, H. Sieme, Osmotic stress and membrane phase changes during freezing of stallion sperm: mode of action of cryoprotective agents, Biol Reprod, 88 (2013) 68.

[219] L. Parmegiani, R. Fabbri, G.E. Cognigni, S. Bernardi, P. Pocognoli, M. Filicori, Blastocyst formation, pregnancy, and birth derived from human oocytes cryopreserved for 5 years, Fertil Steril, 90 (2008) 2014 e2017-2010.

[220] S.J. Paynter, A. Cooper, L. Gregory, B.J. Fuller, R.W. Shaw, Permeability characteristics of human oocytes in the presence of the cryoprotectant dimethylsulphoxide, Hum Reprod, 14 (1999) 2338-2342.

[221] D.E. Pegg, The current status of tissue cryopreservation, Cryo Letters, 22 (2001) 105-114.

[222] D.E. Pegg, The history and principles of cryopreservation, Semin Reprod Med, 20 (2002) 5-13.

[223] D.E. Pegg, Perfusion of rabbit kidneys with cryoprotective agents, Cryobiology, 9 (1972) 411-419.

[224] D.E. Pegg, The preservation of tissues for transplantation, Cell Tissue Bank, 7 (2006) 349-358.

[225] D.E. Pegg, C.J. Green, C.A. Walter, Attempted canine renal cryopreservation using dimethyl sulphoxide helium perfusion and microwave thawing, Cryobiology, 15 (1978) 618-626.

[226] D.E. Pegg, I.A. Jacobsen, M.P. Diaper, J. Foreman, Optimization of a vehicle solution for the introduction and removal of glycerol with rabbit kidneys, Cryobiology, 23 (1986) 53-63.

[227] D.E. Pegg, L. Wang, D. Vaughan, Cryopreservation of articular cartilage. Part 3: the liquidustracking method, Cryobiology, 52 (2006) 360-368.

[228] D.E. Pegg, M.C. Wusteman, Perfusion of rabbit kidneys with glycerol solutions at 5 degrees C, Cryobiology, 14 (1977) 168-178.

[229] Y.A. Petrenko, D.R. Jones, A.Y. Petrenko, Cryopreservation of human fetal liver hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells using sucrose as an additive to the cryoprotective medium, Cryobiology, 57 (2008) 195-200.

[230] Y.A. Petrenko, O.Y. Rogulska, V.V. Mutsenko, A.Y. Petrenko, A sugar pretreatment as a new approach to the Me2SO- and xeno-free cryopreservation of human mesenchymal stromal cells, Cryo Letters, 35 (2014) 239-246.

[231] S.J. Pickering, M.H. Johnson, The influence of cooling on the organization of the meiotic spindle of the mouse oocyte, Hum Reprod, 2 (1987) 207-216.

[232] C. Polge, Sir Alan Sterling Parkes: 10 September 1900 - 17 July 1990, Biogr Mem Fellows R Soc,
52 (2006) 263-283.

[233] C. Polge, A.U. Smith, A.S. Parkes, Revival of spermatozoa after vitrification and dehydration at low temperatures, Nature, 164 (1949) 666.

[234] C.E. Pope, V.Z. Pope, L.R. Beck, Cryopreservation and transfer of baboon embryos, J In Vitro Fert Embryo Transf, 3 (1986) 33-39.

[235] J.R. Prentice-Biensch, J. Singh, R.J. Mapletoft, M. Anzar, Vitrification of immature bovine cumulus-oocyte complexes: effects of cryoprotectants, the vitrification procedure and warming time on cleavage and embryo development, Reprod Biol Endocrinol, 10 (2012) 73.

[236] Pulver, A. Shevtsov, B. Leybovich, I. Artyuhov, Y. Maleev, A. Peregudov, Production of organ extracellular matrix using a freeze-thaw cycle employing extracellular cryoprotectants, Cryo Letters, 35 (2014) 400-406.

[237] E. Puschmann, C. Selden, S. Butler, B. Fuller, Liquidus tracking: controlled rate vitrification for the cryopreservation of larger volumes and tissues, Cryo Letters, 35 (2014) 345-355.

[238] P. Quinn, J.F. Kerin, Experience with the cryopreservation of human embryos using the mouse as a model to establish successful techniques, J In Vitro Fert Embryo Transf, 3 (1986) 40-45. [239] Y. Rabin, J. Plitz, Thermal expansion of blood vessels and muscle specimens permeated with DMSO, DP6, and VS55 at cryogenic temperatures, Ann Biomed Eng, 33 (2005) 1213-1228.

[240] W.F. Rall, Factors affecting the survival of mouse embryos cryopreserved by vitrification, Cryobiology, 24 (1987) 387-402.

[241] W.F. Rall, G.M. Fahy, Ice-free cryopreservation of mouse embryos at -196 degrees C by vitrification, Nature, 313 (1985) 573-575.

[242] W.F. Rall, P. Mazur, J.J. McGrath, Depression of the ice-nucleation temperature of rapidly cooled mouse embryos by glycerol and dimethyl sulfoxide, Biophys J, 41 (1983) 1-12.

[243] W.F. Rall, M.J. Wood, C. Kirby, D.G. Whittingham, Development of mouse embryos cryopreserved by vitrification, J Reprod Fertil, 80 (1987) 499-504.

[244] G. Rapatz, B. Luyet, Electron microscope study of slowly frozen suspensions of human leucocytes, Biodynamica, 11 (1971) 69-81.

[245] J.A. Raymond, A.L. DeVries, Adsorption inhibition as a mechanism of freezing resistance in polar fishes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 74 (1977) 2589-2593.

[246] J.A. Raymond, P. Wilson, A.L. DeVries, Inhibition of growth of nonbasal planes in ice by fish antifreezes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 86 (1989) 881-885.

[247] M.L. Reed, M. Lane, D.K. Gardner, N.L. Jensen, J. Thompson, Vitrification of human blastocysts using the cryoloop method: successful clinical application and birth of offspring, J Assist Reprod Genet, 19 (2002) 304-306.

[248] S.J. Rich, W.J. Armitage, Propane-1,2-diol as a potential component of a vitrification solution for corneas, Cryobiology, 27 (1990) 42-54.

[249] L. Rienzi, S. Romano, L. Albricci, R. Maggiulli, A. Capalbo, E. Baroni, S. Colamaria, F. Sapienza, F. Ubaldi, Embryo development of fresh 'versus' vitrified metaphase II oocytes after ICSI: a prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study, Hum Reprod, 25 (2010) 66-73.

[250] J.L.J. Rios, Y. Rabin, A new device for mechanical testing of blood vessels at cryogenic temperatures, Exp Mech, 47 (2007) 337-346.

[251] A. Rizzino, Stimulating progress in regenerative medicine: improving the cloning and recovery of cryopreserved human pluripotent stem cells with ROCK inhibitors, Regen Med, 5 (2010) 799-807.

[252] A.W. Rowe, Biochemical aspects of cryoprotective agents in freezing and thawing, Cryobiology,3 (1966) 12-18.

[253] B. Rubinsky, A. Arav, G.L. Fletcher, Hypothermic protection--a fundamental property of "antifreeze" proteins, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 180 (1991) 566-571.

[254] B. Rubinsky, A. Arav, M. Mattioli, A.L. Devries, The effect of antifreeze glycopeptides on membrane potential changes at hypothermic temperatures, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 173 (1990) 1369-1374.

[255] A.S. Rudolph, J.H. Crowe, L.M. Crowe, Effects of three stabilizing agents--proline, betaine, and trehalose--on membrane phospholipids, Arch Biochem Biophys, 245 (1986) 134-143.

[256] A. Sakai, F. Engelmann, Vitrification, encapsulation-vitrification and droplet-vitrification: a review, Cryo Letters, 28 (2007) 151-172.

[257] A. Sakai, S. Kobayashi, I. Oiyama, Cryopreservation of nucellar cells of navel orange (Citrus sinensis Osb. var. brasiliensis Tanaka) by vitrification, Plant Cell Rep, 9 (1990) 30-33.

[258] N.B. Segal, F.M. Guttman, Kinetics of permeation and intracellular events associated with Me2SO permeation of rabbit kidneys during perfusion at 10 degrees C, Cryobiology, 19 (1982) 41-49.

[259] J. Shapiro, Freezing-out, a safe technique for concentration of dilute solutions, Science, 133 (1961) 2063-2064.

[260] R. Sharma, G.K. Law, K. Rekieh, A. Abazari, J.A.W. Elliott, L.E. McGann, N.M. Jomha, A novel method to measure cryoprotectant permeation into intact articular cartilage, Cryobiology, 54 (2007) 196-203.

[261] J.M. Shaw, L.L. Kuleshova, D.R. MacFarlane, A.O. Trounson, Vitrification properties of solutions of ethylene glycol in saline containing PVP, Ficoll, or dextran, Cryobiology, 35 (1997) 219-229.

[262] M. Shlafer, A.M. Karow, Jr., Ultrastructure-function correlative studies for cardiac cryopreservation. I. Hearts perfused with various concentrations of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), Cryobiology, 8 (1971) 280-289.

[263] F. Sicheri, D.S. Yang, Ice-binding structure and mechanism of an antifreeze protein from winter flounder, Nature, 375 (1995) 427-431.

[264] H.A. Sloviter, In-vivo survival of rabbit's red cells recovered after freezing, Lancet, 1 (1951) 1350-1351.

[265] A.U. Smith, C. Polge, Survival of spermatozoa at low temperatures, Nature, 166 (1950) 668-669.

[266] Y.C. Song, B.S. Khirabadi, F. Lightfoot, K.G.M. Brockbank, M.J. Taylor, Vitreous cryopreservation maintains the function of vascular grafts, Nature Biotechnology, 18 (2000) 296-299.

[267] R. Spindler, W.F. Wolkers, B. Glasmacher, Effect of Me(2)SO on membrane phase behavior and protein denaturation of human pulmonary endothelial cells studied by in situ FTIR spectroscopy, J Biomech Eng, 131 (2009) 074517.

[268] K.B. Storey, J.M. Storey, Molecular biology of freezing tolerance, Compr Physiol, 3 (2013) 1283-1308.

[269] L. Suo, Q. Meng, Y. Pei, X. Fu, Y. Wang, T.D. Bunch, S. Zhu, Effect of cryopreservation on acetylation patterns of lysine 12 of histone H4 (acH4K12) in mouse oocytes and zygotes, J Assist Reprod Genet, 27 (2010) 735-741.

[270] R.L. Sutton, D.E. Pegg, Devitrification in butane-2,3-diol solutions containing anti-freeze peptide., Cryo Letters, 14 (1993) 8.

[271] G. Taborsky, Solute redistribution in some multicomponent aqueous systems on freezing, J Biol Chem, 245 (1970) 1063-1068.

[272] M.J. Tait, F. Franks, Water in biological systems, Nature, 230 (1971) 91-94.

[273] T. Takahashi, A. Hirsh, E. Erbe, R.J. Williams, Mechanism of cryoprotection by extracellular polymeric solutes, Biophysical Journal, 54 (1988) 509-518.

[274] W. Tang, J. Yan, T. Wang, X. Xia, X. Zhuang, K. Hong, R. Li, P. Liu, H. Jiang, J. Qiao, Up-regulation of heme oxygenase-1 expression modulates reactive oxygen species level during the cryopreservation of human seminiferous tubules, Fertil Steril, 102 (2014) 974-980 e974.

[275] A.S. Teixeira, M. Faltus, J. Zamecnik, M.E. Gonzalez-Benito, A.D. Molina-Garcia, Glass transition and heat capacity behaviors of plant vitrification solutions, Thermochim Acta, 593 (2014) 43-49.

[276] N. Thomas, A. Busza, A. Cooper, S. Paynter, B. Fuller, R. Shaw, Measurement of permeating levels of cryoprotectant during ovarian tissue cryopreservation using H-1 NMR spectroscopy in human and porcine ovaries, Cryoletters, 18 (1997) 179-184.

[277] S. Tsai, W. Yen, S. Chavanich, V. Viyakarn, C. Lin, Development of cryopreservation techniques for gorgonian (Junceella juncea) oocytes through vitrification, PLoS One, 10 (2015) e0123409.

[278] E.E. Uchendu, S.W. Leonard, M.G. Traber, B.M. Reed, Vitamins C and E improve regrowth and reduce lipid peroxidation of blackberry shoot tips following cryopreservation, Plant Cell Rep, 29 (2010) 25-35.

[279] A. Uragami, A. Sakai, M. Nagai, T. Takahashi, Survival of cultured cells and somatic embryos of Asparagus officinalis cryopreserved by vitrification, Plant Cell Rep, 8 (1989) 418-421.

[280] G. Vajta, P. Holm, M. Kuwayama, P.J. Booth, H. Jacobsen, T. Greve, H. Callesen, Open Pulled Straw (OPS) vitrification: a new way to reduce cryoinjuries of bovine ova and embryos, Mol Reprod Dev, 51 (1998) 53-58.

[281] J. Van der Elst, E. Van den Abbeel, R. Jacobs, E. Wisse, A. Van Steirteghem, Effect of 1,2propanediol and dimethylsulphoxide on the meiotic spindle of the mouse oocyte, Hum Reprod, 3 (1988) 960-967.

[282] S. van der Wal, C.J. Capicciotti, S. Rontogianni, R.N. Ben, R.M.J. Liskamp, Synthesis and evaluation of linear CuAAC-oligomerized antifreeze neo-glycopeptides, Medchemcomm, 5 (2014) 1159-1165.

[283] P. Vanderzwalmen, G. Bertin, C. Debauche, V. Standaert, N. Bollen, E. van Roosendaal, M. Vandervorst, R. Schoysman, N. Zech, Vitrification of human blastocysts with the Hemi-Straw carrier: application of assisted hatching after thawing, Hum Reprod, 18 (2003) 1504-1511.

[284] C. Vincent, S.J. Pickering, M.H. Johnson, S.J. Quick, Dimethylsulphoxide affects the organisation of microfilaments in the mouse oocyte, Mol Reprod Dev, 26 (1990) 227-235.

[285] G.M. Volk, J.L. Harris, K.E. Rotindo, Survival of mint shoot tips after exposure to cryoprotectant solution components, Cryobiology, 52 (2006) 305-308.

[286] O. Vos, C.A. Kaalen, Prevention of freezing damage to proliferating cells in tissue culture. A quantitative study of a number of agents, Cryobiology, 1 (1965) 249-260.

[287] D.B. Walcerz, M.J. Taylor, A.L. Busza, Determination of the kinetics of permeation of dimethyl sulfoxide in isolated corneas, Cell Biophys, 26 (1995) 79-102.

[288] C.A. Walter, S.C. Knight, J. Farrant, Ultrastructural appearance of freeze-substituted lymphocytes frozen by interrupting rapid cooling with a period at--26 degrees C, Cryobiology, 12 (1975) 103-109.

[289] J.H. Wang, A comprehensive evaluation of the effects and mechanisms of antifreeze proteins during low-temperature preservation, Cryobiology, 41 (2000) 1-9.

[290] S. Wang, H. Oldenhof, X. Dai, A. Haverich, A. Hilfiker, M. Harder, W.F. Wolkers, Protein stability in stored decellularized heart valve scaffolds and diffusion kinetics of protective molecules, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1844 (2014) 430-438.

[291] S. Wang, H. Oldenhof, T. Goecke, R. Ramm, M. Harder, A. Haverich, A. Hilfiker, W.F. Wolkers, Sucrose diffusion in decellularized heart valves for freeze-drying, Tissue Eng Part C Methods, 21 (2015) 922-931.

[292] J.G. Watterson, The role of water in cell architecture, Mol Cell Biochem, 79 (1988) 101-105.

[293] L. Weng, C. Chen, J. Zuo, W. Li, Molecular dynamics study of effects of temperature and concentration on hydrogen-bond abilities of ethylene glycol and glycerol: implications for cryopreservation, J Phys Chem A, 115 (2011) 4729-4737.

[294] L. Weng, R. Vijayaraghavan, D.R. Macfarlane, G.D. Elliott, Application of the Kwei equation to model the Tg behavior of binary blends of sugars and salts, Cryobiology, 68 (2014) 155-158.

[295] L. Weng, S. Ziaei, G.D. Elliott, Effects of water on structure and dynamics of trehalose glasses at low water contents and its relationship to preservation outcomes, Sci Rep, 6 (2016) 28795.

[296] D.G. Whittingham, S.P. Leibo, P. Mazur, Survival of mouse embryos frozen to -196 degrees and -269 degrees C, Science, 178 (1972) 411-414.

[297] T.W. Wilson, L.A. Ladino, P.A. Alpert, M.N. Breckels, I.M. Brooks, J. Browse, S.M. Burrows, K.S. Carslaw, J.A. Huffman, C. Judd, W.P. Kilthau, R.H. Mason, G. McFiggans, L.A. Miller, J.J. Najera, E. Polishchuk, S. Rae, C.L. Schiller, M. Si, J.V. Temprado, T.F. Whale, J.P. Wong, O. Wurl, J.D. Yakobi-Hancock, J.P. Abbatt, J.Y. Aller, A.K. Bertram, D.A. Knopf, B.J. Murray, A marine biogenic source of atmospheric ice-nucleating particles, Nature, 525 (2015) 234-238.

[298] J.P. Wolanczyk, K.B. Storey, J.G. Baust, Ice nucleating activity in the blood of the freeze-tolerant frog, Rana sylvatica, Cryobiology, 27 (1990) 328-335.

[299] M.J. Wood, C. Barros, C.J. Candy, J. Carroll, J. Melendez, D.G. Whittingham, High rates of survival and fertilization of mouse and hamster oocytes after vitrification in dimethylsulphoxide, Biol Reprod, 49 (1993) 489-495.

[300] B. Wowk, Anomalous high activity of a subfraction of polyvinyl alcohol ice blocker, Cryobiology, 50 (2005) 325-331.

[301] B. Wowk, Thermodynamic aspects of vitrification, Cryobiology, 60 (2010) 11-22.

[302] B. Wowk, G.M. Fahy, Inhibition of bacterial ice nucleation by polyglycerol polymers, Cryobiology, 44 (2002) 14-23.

[303] B. Wowk, E. Leitl, C.M. Rasch, N. Mesbah-Karimi, S.B. Harris, G.M. Fahy, Vitrification enhancement by synthetic ice blocking agents, Cryobiology, 40 (2000) 228-236.
[304] M.C. Wusteman, D.E. Pegg, M.P. Robinson, L.H. Wang, P. Fitch, Vitrification media: toxicity, permeability, and dielectric properties, Cryobiology, 44 (2002) 24-37.

[305] M.C. Wusteman, J. Simmonds, D. Vaughan, D.E. Pegg, Vitrification of rabbit tissues with propylene glycol and trehalose, Cryobiology, 56 (2008) 62-71.

[306] D. Yang, K.L. Winslow, K. Nguyen, D. Duffy, M. Freeman, T. Al-Shawaf, Comparison of selected cryoprotective agents to stabilize meiotic spindles of human oocytes during cooling, J Exp Clin Assist Reprod, 7 (2010) pii: 4.

[307] H. Yang, J.P. Acker, M. Cabuhat, L.E. McGann, Effects of incubation temperature and time after thawing on viability assessment of peripheral hematopoietic progenitor cells cryopreserved for transplantation, Bone Marrow Transplant, 32 (2003) 1021-1026.

[308] C. Yildiz, A. Kaya, M. Aksoy, T. Tekeli, Influence of sugar supplementation of the extender on motility, viability and acrosomal integrity of dog spermatozoa during freezing, Theriogenology, 54 (2000) 579-585.

[309] C. Yuan, J. Gao, J. Guo, L. Bai, C. Marshall, Z. Cai, L. Wang, M. Xiao, Dimethyl sulfoxide damages mitochondrial integrity and membrane potential in cultured astrocytes, PLoS One, 9 (2014) e107447.

[310] K.E. Zachariassen, E. Kristiansen, Ice nucleation and antinucleation in nature, Cryobiology, 41 (2000) 257-279.

[311] K.E. Zachariassen, E. Kristiansen, S.A. Pedersen, H.T. Hammel, Ice nucleation in solutions and freeze-avoiding insects-homogeneous or heterogeneous?, Cryobiology, 48 (2004) 309-321.

[312] T. Zampolla, E. Spikings, T. Zhang, D.M. Rawson, Effect of methanol and Me2SO exposure on mitochondrial activity and distribution in stage III ovarian follicles of zebrafish (Danio rerio), Cryobiology, 59 (2009) 188-194.

73

[313] M. Zhang, H. Oldenhof, H. Sieme, W.F. Wolkers, Freezing-induced uptake of trehalose into mammalian cells facilitates cryopreservation, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1858 (2016) 1400-1409.

[314] S.E. Zhu, M. Kasai, H. Otoge, T. Sakurai, T. Machida, Cryopreservation of expanded mouse blastocysts by vitrification in ethylene glycol-based solutions, J Reprod Fertil, 98 (1993) 139-145.

[315] B. Zobrist, C. Marcolli, T. Peter, T. Koop, Heterogeneous ice nucleation in aqueous solutions: the role of water activity, Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 112 (2008) 3965-3975.

## 1 Tables

Alcohols and	Sugars &	Polymers	Sulfoxides & Amides	Amines
Derivatives	Sugar alcohols			
Methanol*	Glucose*	Polyethylene glycol (PEG)**	Dimethyl sulfoxide****	Proline**
Ethanol~	Galactose*	Polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP)*	Acetamide*	Glutamine*
Glycerol***	Lactose~	Dextrans**	Formamide*	Betaine*
Propylene	Sucrose~**	Ficoll**	Dimethyl acetamide~	
glycol**	Trehalose**	Hydroxeythyl starch**		
Ethylene Glycol**	Raffinose**	Serum proteins (complex mix)**		
	Mannitol~*	Milk proteins (complex mix)~*		
	Sorbitol~	Peptones~		
~ Effective in prokaryotic cells				
* Effective to a limited degree in eukaryotic cells				
** Moderately effective in eukaryotes; often in combination				
*** Very effective in a defined number of cell types				
**** Highly effective and widely used across all classes of cells				

## 2 Table 1. Cryoprotective agents

## 3

Preserved samples	Common	Composition Comments		Source
	Name			
Embryos up to blastocysts				
Mouse	VS1	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 2.62 M; Acetamide: 2.62 M;	$T_g$ of VS1, VS2 and VS3	[240,
		PG: 1.3 M;	range between –108 and –	241,
		PEG: 6.0% (w/v) (8000 MW) 113 °C. CCR of VS1 is		243]
	VS2	PG: 5.5; PEG: 6% (w/v)	°C/min.	[240]
	VS3	Glycerol: 6.5 M; PEG: 6% (w/v)		[240]
	EFS	EG: 40% (v/v); Ficoll 70: 30% (w/v);		[148,
		Sucrose: 0.5 M		314]

Preserved samples	Common	Composition Comments		Source	
	Name				
Bovine	EFS	EG:40% (v/v); Ficoll 70: 18% (w/v);	II 70: 18% (w/v);		
		Sucrose: 10.26% (w/v)			
Human		EG: 15%; Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 15%; Sucrose: 0.5M	e: 0.5M		
		EG: 5.5 M; Sucrose: 1.0 M		[123]	
		Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 15%; EG: 15%; Ficoll 70: 10		[208]	
		mg/mL; Sucrose: 0.65 M			
Oocytes	I	1	I	I	
Mouse		Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 6 M		[299]	
		EG: 1.4 M (8%); Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 1.1 M (8%);		[42]	
		Trehalose: 1 M			
		PG: 1.5 M; Trehalose: 0.5 M		[169]	
Bovine		EG: 15%; PG: 15%; Sucrose: 0.5M		[41]	
		EG: 6.8 M; Sucrose: 1.0 M; TCM199		[163]	
		medium			
		EG: 15%; Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 15%; Sucrose:		[235]	
		17.1%; Calf serum: 20%; TCM199			
		medium			
Human		EG: 15%; Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 15%; Sucrose: 0.5M		[249]	
		EG: 5.0 M; Sucrose: 1.0 M		[163]	
Gorgonian coral (Junceela		EG: 1.5M; PG: 3.5M; Methanol: 2M		[277]	
juncea)					
Zerbrafish (Danio rerio)		Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 3M; PG: 2M; Methanol: 2M		[112]	
Tissues	I			1	
Ewe ovarian arteries	VS4	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 2.75 M; PG: 1.97 M;	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : –125°C; CCR: 14.3°C/min	[51, 52]	
		Formamide: 2.76 M			
Rabbit venous blood	VS55	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 3.1M; Formamide: 3.1M; PG:	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −123°C; CCR: 2.5°C/min.	[10, 266]	
vessels/Rabbit kidneys	(VS41A)	2.2M CWR: 50 °C/min.			
Rabbit carotid	LSV/40/15	PG: 40%; Trehalose: 15%; LSV: 5% of	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −100 °C.	[305]	
arteries/corneas		the total salt concentration of PBS			
Bovine blood vessel and	DP6	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 3M; PG: 3M	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −119 °C; CCR: 40°C/min.	[73, 239]	
muscle					

Preserved samples	Common	Composition	Comments	Source	
	Name				
Rabbit/Human corneas		PG: 50% (v/v); Sucrose: 0.25M; PEG:	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −107 °C	[9]	
		6%; Chondroitin sulfate: 2.5% <sup>6</sup>			
Heart valves (sheep; rat)	V\$83	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 363.2 g/l; Formamide: 209.3	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −119 °C	[31]	
		g/l; PG: 252.6 g/l			
Rabbit kidney	M22	Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 2.855 M; Formamide: 2.855	$T_g$ : −124 °C; CWR ≤ 1 °C/min	[93]	
		M; EG: 2.713 M; N-Methylformamide:			
		0.508 M; 3-Methoxy,1,2-propanediol:			
		0.377 M; PVP K12: 2.8% (w/v); X-1000			
		ice blocker (PVA): 1% w/v; Z-1000 ice			
		blocker (PGL): 2% W/V			
Plants					
Cultured cells and somatic	PVS	Glycerol: 22%; EG: 15%; PG: 15%;	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> of 85% PVS: −115.3 °C	[279]	
embryos from mesophyll		Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 7%			
tissue of asparagus					
				(0.00)	
Orange (Citrus sinensis)	PVS2	Glycerol: 30%; EG: 15%; Me <sub>2</sub> SO: 15%;	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : –115 °C	[257]	
cells		Sucrose: 0.15M			
Mint plant shoot tips	PVS3	Glycerol: 50%; Sucrose: 50%	<i>T<sub>g</sub></i> : −90 °C	[275,	
				285]	

- 1
   Table 2. Vitrification solutions in common use, including Glass transition temperature (*T<sub>g</sub>*), Critical
- 2 Cooling Rates (CCR) and Critical Warming Rates (CWR), where known.
- 3

Small volume vitrification systems	Sample	Achievable cooling/	Source
	volume (μL)	warming rate (°C/min)	
French straw	250	2500 / 2500	[243]
Electron microscopic grids (EM)	< 1	180,000 /	[191]
Open pulled straws (OPS)	1 to 2	20,000 / 20,000	[280]
Cryoloop	< 1	15,000 / 45,000	[60, 166]

Hemi-straw	~ 0.3	> 20,000 /	[60, 283]
Cryotop (open system)	< 0.1	23,000 / 42,000	[161, 162]
CryoTip (closed system)	~ 1	12.000 / 24.000	[162]
Quartz micro-capillary (QMC)	< 1	250,000 /	[120, 169]

1 Table 3. Vitrification systems for small volume samples.